

Fruits, Vegetables, and Human Health: Key Nutrients and Their Role in Chronic Diseases

Author: **Jelena Gligorijevic,** MD, Nutrition Specialist Chief Medical Officer, The Foundation for Fresh Produce

2025



TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 4. List of Abbreviations
- 4. Abstract
- 5. INTRODUCTION
- 6. THE OBJECTIVES OF THE REVIEW
- 7. NUTRIENTS FROM FRUITS AND VEGETABLES HEALTH BENEFITS
 - 7. Vitamins from fruits and vegetables

Vitamin C

Provitamin A (carotenoids)

Folate

Vitamin K

Other vitamins

- 10. Phytochemicals from fruits and vegetables
- 11. Minerals from fruits and vegetables

Potassium

Non-hem iron

Other minerals

- 12. Dietary fiber from fruits and vegetables
- 13. Proteins
- 14. Low energy density



15. FRUITS, VEGETABLES, AND CHRONIC NON-COMMUNICABLE DISEASES

15. Introduction to chronic non-communicable diseases

Fruits, vegetables, and inflammation

17. <u>Hypertension</u>

<u>Fruits, vegetables and hypertension</u>

DASH diet - Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension

19. Overweight and obesity

Fruits, vegetables, and obesity

21. Diabetes

Fruits, vegetables, and diabetes

23. Cardiovascular diseases

Behavioral risk factors

Fruits, vegetables, and cardiovascular diseases

Mediterranean diet

25. Cancer

Fruits, vegetables, and cancer

29. Chronic respiratory diseases

Fruits, vegetables, and chronic respiratory diseases

30. Gastrointestinal health

31. Mental health

Fruits, vegetables, and mental health

34. CONCLUSIONS

36. LITERATURE



List of Abbreviations

RDA - Recommended Dietary Allowance

AI - Adequate Intake

RAE – Retinol Activity Equivalents

DNA - Deoxyribonucleic Acid

RNA - Ribonucleic Acid

DFE s - Dietary Folate Equivalents

LDL - Low-Density Lipoprotein

Gut – Gastrointestinal tract

CNDs - Chronic non-communicable diseases

UL - Upper Intake Level

CVDs - Cardiovascular diseases

DASH – Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension

COPD - Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

NIH - National Institute for Health

Measurement Units

g - gram

mg - milligram

oz. – ounce (28.3 g)

mcg - microgram

kcal - kilocalories

Abstract

Global dietary guidelines consistently recommend a high daily intake of fresh fruits and vegetables due to their essential role in providing key nutrients, supporting overall health, and reducing the risk of chronic non-communicable diseases (CNDs). This review aims to (i) summarize the health benefits of the major nutrients present in fruits and vegetables, and (ii) demonstrate the role of diets rich in fruits and vegetables in the prevention and management of CNDs.

The initial sections of the review describe how fruits and vegetables constitute the primary source of vitamin C and provide substantial amounts of provitamin A, folate, vitamin K, diverse phytochemicals, minerals (including potassium and non-heme iron), and dietary fiber. Collectively, these nutrients exert multiple, well-documented positive impacts on human physiology and disease risk.

The subsequent sections outline the critical importance of fruit and vegetable consumption in reducing the incidence and aiding the management of major CNDs, including hypertension, obesity, diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, cancer (overall and site-specific), chronic respiratory diseases, gastrointestinal disorders, and mental disorders.

Overall, the evidence underscores the pivotal role of increased fruit and vegetable consumption as a cornerstone of strategies to prevent and manage CNDs and to promote overall health, physical fitness, and quality of life.

Key words: Fruits, Vegetables, Nutrients, Noncommunicable Diseases



INTRODUCTION

All leading health organizations and dietary guidelines worldwide recommend a high daily intake of fruits and vegetables in order to maintain good health, as well as to prevent and treat chronic non-communicable diseases (1). In modern society, the leading causes of illness and death are precisely chronic non-communicable diseases including cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, cancer, obesity, and chronic respiratory diseases (2,3). Adequate nutrition and a high daily intake of fruits and vegetables play a crucial role in the prevention and treatment of chronic non-communicable diseases, as well as in maintaining good health, physical fitness, and a high quality of life. For children, fruits and vegetables are also important for maintaining proper growth and development.

Vegetables and fruits recommended in human nutrition (4,5)

Vegetables

In human nutrition, vegetables are utilized in various forms, including fresh, frozen, and canned, and may be consumed raw, cooked, or processed. Based on their nutritional composition and functional role in the human diet, vegetables are categorized into the following groups:

- **Dark-Green Vegetables**: lettuce, broccoli, spinach, chard, collard greens, kale, mustard greens, poke greens, romaine lettuce, turnip greens, watercress, etc.
- **Red and Orange Vegetables**: carrots, red or orange bell peppers, tomatoes, sweet potatoes, winter squash, etc.
- Beans, Peas, and Lentils: dried beans (black beans, kidney beans, lima beans, pinto beans, etc.); dried peas, split peas, chickpeas, lentils, edamame, etc.
- **Starchy Vegetables:** potatoes, corn, breadfruit, burdock root, cassava, jicama, plantains, salsify, yams, yucca, etc.
- Other Vegetables: all other vegetables: cabbage, cucumber, cauliflower, asparagus, avocado, beets, bitter melon, Brussels sprouts, celery, eggplant, green beans, mushrooms, onions, radish, peas, zucchini, turnips, etc.

Fruits

In human nutrition, fruits are utilized in various forms, including fresh, frozen, canned, dried fruits, and 100% fruit juices. Some of the popular fruits are:

- Citrus fruit: oranges, grapefruit, lemons, limes, mandarins.
- Berries: blackberries, blueberries, currants, raspberries.
- Melons: cantaloupe, casaba, honeydew, watermelon.
- Other Fruits: apples, pears, bananas, cherries, dates, figs, grapes, mangoes, nectarines, papaya, peaches, pineapple, plums, pomegranates, raisins, etc.



THE OBJECTIVES OF THE REVIEW

The objectives of this review are:

- To explain the health benefits of various nutrients found in fruits and vegetables.
- 2. To demonstrate the role of a diet rich in fruits and vegetables in the prevention and management of chronic non-communicable diseases, particularly:
 - · Cardiovascular diseases;
 - Hypertension;
 - · Obesity;
 - · Diabetes;
 - Cancer (overall and site-specific);
 - Chronic respiratory diseases;
 - Gastrointestinal diseases; and
 - · Mental disorders.



NUTRIENTS FROM FRUITS AND VEGETABLES — HEALTH BENEFITS

Fruits and vegetables are nutrient-dense foods, meaning they provide vitamins, minerals, and other health-promoting components, and have little to no added sugar, saturated fat, and sodium (4). Fruits and vegetables are complex mixtures of bioactive compounds, and are excellent sources of vitamins, phytochemicals, minerals, and fiber. Some vegetables are also a good source of protein. Fresh fruits and vegetables are naturally low in both fat and calories, making them a healthy dietary choice.

The recommended daily intake of vitamins, minerals, and other nutrients varies depending on an individual's specific age, gender, and nutritional or health needs. Recommended Dietary Allowance (RDA) represents the average daily level of intake sufficient to meet the nutrient requirements of nearly all (97%–98%) healthy individuals. It is often used to plan nutritionally adequate diets for individuals. When evidence is insufficient to develop an RDA, an Adequate Intake (AI) is established and assumed to ensure nutritional adequacy (6).

Vitamins from fruits and vegetables

Vitamins are organic compounds that are essential in minute amounts for normal physiological function (i.e., maintenance, growth, development, and reproduction) and cause a specific deficiency syndrome by their absence or insufficiency. Vitamins cannot be synthesized endogenously by the human body and therefore must be obtained through the diet. Some vitamins are antioxidants that neutralize free radicals, reduce oxidative stress, and lower the risk of chronic diseases (7).

Fruits and vegetables are an excellent source of vitamin C, provitamin A, folate, vitamin K, and several other vitamins.



Vitamin C

Vitamin C is a water-soluble antioxidant that protects against the harmful effects of free radicals and contributes to the regeneration of other antioxidants in the body, such as vitamin E. Vitamin C is essential for the biosynthesis of collagen, which plays a critical role in wound healing and immune function. Additionally, it enhances the absorption of non-heme iron, and it is involved in the metabolism of protein (8,9).

The recommended dietary allowances (RDAs) for vitamin C are 75 mg for women and 90 mg for men. Individuals who smoke require 35 mg/day more vitamin C than non-smokers in order to compensate for the higher oxidative stress induced by tobacco (10). Fruits and vegetables represent the primary dietary sources of vitamin C, with particularly high concentrations found in citrus fruits, peppers, kiwifruit, tomatoes, broccoli, berries, etc. As noticed in Table 1, one portion of red pepper or an orange, meets the RDA for vitamin C, while other foods like grains, milk, meat, and butter are very low in vitamin C.

Provitamin A (carotenoids)

Carotenoids from fruits and vegetables are metabolized in the body into active metabolites of vitamin A. Vitamin A is a liposoluble vitamin that supports vision in darkness, corneal and conjunctiva development, cell growth and differentiation, bone and fetus development, and central nervous system (CNS) formation. In addition, vitamin A is essential for immune function, the integrity of surface linings of the respiratory tract, and is critical for vision (12,13).

The RDA for vitamin A, is 700 mcg Retinol Activity Equivalents (RAE) for women, and 900 mcg RAE for men (14). As evidenced in Table 2, vegetables constitute an excellent source of vitamin A.

Table 1. Vitamin C Content per Serving of Selected Foods

High Vitamin C Food	mg per serving
Red pepper, raw, 100 g	142
Orange, 1 medium	70
Kiwifruit, 1 medium	64
Broccoli, cooked, ½ cup	51
Strawberries, sliced, ½ cup	49
Cabbage green row, 100 g	40
Potato, baked, 1 medium	17
Tomato, raw, 1 medium	17
Low Vitamin C Food	mg per serving
Bread, white, 1 slice	0
Milk, one cup	0
Chicken breast, 3 oz.	0
Cheese mozzarella, 1 oz.	0
Beef ground, 3 oz.	0
Butter, 1 spoon	0

Source: FoodData Central (11)

Table 2. Vegetables and Fruits Rich in Vitamin A (Beta-Carotene)

Food	RAE* mcg per serving
Sweet potato, baked in skin, 1 whole	1403
Spinach, frozen, boiled, ½ cup	573
Carrots, raw, ½ cup	459
Cantaloupe, raw, ½ cup	135
Peppers, sweet, red, raw, ½ cup	117
Apricots, dried, 5 apricots	63
Broccoli, boiled, ½ cup	60

^{*}RAE - retinol activity equivalents

Source: FoodData Central (11)



Folate

Folate is a water-soluble B vitamin that plays a fundamental role in the production and maintenance of new cells, a process particularly critical during periods of rapid growth such as infancy, adolescence, and pregnancy. It is essential for the synthesis of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) and ribonucleic acid (RNA), the molecular building blocks of cells. Additionally, adequate folate intake is necessary for both adults and children to support the formation of normal red blood cells and to prevent anemia (15,16).

The RDA for folate for adults is 400 mcg of Dietary Folate Equivalents (DFEs), and 600 mcg DFEs for pregnant women (17). Vegetables are among some of the most significant sources of folate, as presented in Table 3.

Vitamin K

Vitamin K is necessary for the synthesis of proteins involved in hemostasis (blood coagulation), bone metabolism, and the regulation of various cellular functions. Vitamin K is a liposoluble vitamin needed to make clotting factors that help the blood to clot and prevent bleeding. Osteocalcin is a vitamin K dependent protein found in bone, potentially playing a role in bone mineralization and turnover. Another vitamin K-dependent protein, located in vascular smooth muscle, has become the subject of extensive scientific research due to its potential role in preventing abnormal calcification and cardiovascular disease (18.19).

Adequate Intake (AI) for vitamin K is 120 mcg for men, and 90 mcg for women (20). Vitamin KI, the main dietary form of vitamin K, is present in significant amounts in green leafy vegetables, as shown in Table 4.

Other vitamins

Fruits and vegetables also contain significant amounts of other vitamins. For instance, potatoes and other starchy vegetables, as well as certain fruits like bananas, contain considerable amounts of **vitamin B6**, while green leafy vegetables contain **vitamin E** (11).

Table 3. Folate Content per Serving of Selected Foods

Food	*DFEs mcg per serving
Spinach, boiled, ½ cup	131
Asparagus, boiled, 4 spears	89
Brussels sprouts, frozen, boiled, ½ cup	78
Lettuce, romaine, shredded, 1 cup	64
Avocado, raw, sliced, ½ cup 59	59
Kidney beans, canned, ½ cup	46
Banana, 1 medium	24

*DFEs - dietary folate equivalents
Source: FoodData Central (11)

Table 4. Vitamin K Content per Serving of Selected Vegetables

Food	mcg per serving
Collards, boiled, ½ cup	530
Turnip greens, boiled ½ cup	426
Spinach, raw, 1 cup	145
Kale, raw, 1 cup 113	113
Broccoli, chopped, boiled, ½ cup	110
Iceberg lettuce, raw, 1 cup	14
Blueberries, raw, ½ cup	14

Source: FoodData Central (11)



Phytochemicals from fruits and vegetables (21,22,23,24)

Phytochemicals are a diverse group of bioactive compounds produced by plants, primarily serving as part of their defense mechanisms against pathogens and environmental stressors. While not essential nutrients, these compounds are increasingly recognized for their contributions to the protective effects of plant-rich diets. Fruits and vegetables represent a primary dietary source of numerous phytochemicals.

Phytochemicals exhibit a broad spectrum of biological activities that underpin their health-promoting effects. Many phytochemicals serve as antioxidants, helping to neutralize free radicals, reduce oxidative stress, and lower the risk of chronic diseases. Additionally, phytochemicals may exhibit anti-inflammatory effects by modulating inflammatory pathways, potentially reducing the risk of diseases such as arthritis and cardiovascular disease. Certain phytochemicals have been shown to inhibit tumor growth and induce apoptosis in cancer cells (anticancer properties). By improving lipid profiles and vascular function, some phytochemicals help prevent atherosclerosis and hypertension. Other reported properties of phytochemicals include antimicrobial, antiviral, antiallergic, and immunomodulatory effects.

Major Classes of Phytochemicals in fruits and vegetables are:

Flavonoids constitute the largest family of polyphenolic phytochemicals, with over 6,000 identified structures. There has been much interest in the potential health benefits of flavonoids associated with fruit and vegetable-rich diets. The main dietary sources of flavonoids include tea, citrus fruit, berries, apples, legumes, and red wine. *Anthocyanins* are a subclass of flavonoids responsible for the red, blue, and purple pigmentation observed in berries, cherries, and red cabbage.

Carotenoids are yellow, orange, and red pigments synthesized by plants, many of which have important health benefits. Some carotenoids, such as *beta-carotene*, are classified as provitamin A carotenoids because the body can convert them into vitamin A. *Lycopene*, a non-provitamin A carotenoid, is found abundantly in tomatoes and tomato products, , watermelon, and red grapefruit. Another important carotenoid, *lutein*, is especially concentrated in dark green leafy vegetables like spinach and kale and is known for supporting eye health.

Glucosinolate is found in cruciferous vegetables, such as broccoli, Brussels sprouts, cabbage, cauliflower, kale, mustard, radish, rutabaga and turnips. Epidemiological studies link high cruciferous vegetable intake to lowered risks of lung, breast, and colorectal cancers.

Phytosterols, which are structurally similar to cholesterol, competitively inhibit intestinal cholesterol absorption, reducing LDL levels. Good food sources of phytosterols include unrefined vegetable oils, nuts, seeds, and legumes (exp. peas, kidney beans, lentils), and bananas.



Minerals from fruits and vegetables

Minerals constitute essential nutrients that the human organism is incapable of synthesizing endogenously and must therefore be obtained through dietary intake. Fruits and vegetables are rich sources of potassium, non-hem iron, magnesium and calcium.

Potassium

Potassium is an essential mineral and electrolyte. It helps maintain intracellular fluid balance and is necessary for nerve impulse conduction, muscle, and heart function. Results from numerous studies reported higher dietary potassium intakes to be associated with lower blood pressure and lower risks of stroke and cardiovascular disease (25,26).

Potassium is a "nutrient of public health concern" according to the 2020–2025 Dietary Guidelines for Americans, since it's under consumption in the US population is associated with adverse health effects, like - hypertension and cardiovascular diseases (4).

The adequate intake (AI) for potassium is 2,600 mg/day for women and 3,400 mg/day for men (27). Fruits and vegetables are rich sources of potassium as presented in Table 5.

Table 5. Vegetables and Fruits as Sources of Potassium

Food	mcg per serving
Potato, baked, 1 potato	610
White beans, canned, ½ cup	595
Tomato puree, ½ cup	549
Banana, 1 medium	422
Spinach, cooked, ½ cup	419
Peaches, dried, ¼ cup	398
Prunes, stewed, ½ cup	399
Orange, 1 medium	238

Non-heme iron

Iron is a vital element in hemoglobin, the protein in red blood cells responsible for transporting oxygen from the lungs to body tissues. It also plays a key role in myoglobin, a protein that supplies oxygen to muscles, thereby supporting muscle metabolism. Additionally, iron is essential for physical growth, brain development, and proper cellular function. Iron deficiency anemia is common in children, adolescent females, and women of childbearing age (28,29).

Iron exists in foods in two forms: heme iron and non-heme iron. Non-heme iron is more difficult for the body to absorb; however, these foods are still a meaningful source of iron. Sources of non-heme iron are dried beans and legumes (lima beans, soybeans, dried beans and peas, kidney beans), nuts (almonds, Brazil nuts), dried fruits (especially prunes, raisins, apricots), vegetables, and more specifically, green vegetables (broccoli, kale, collards, asparagus, dandelion greens). Foods rich in vitamin C enhance the absorption of non-heme iron and should be consumed at the same time as a non-heme iron-rich food or meal (28,29).

Other minerals

Calcium: The main food sources of calcium are milk and milk products. In addition to milk, a variety of foods contain calcium and can help children, teens, and adults get sufficient levels of calcium in their diets. For example, the calcium found in collard greens, kale, broccoli, mustard greens, turnip greens, and dried figs is as bioavailable as the calcium in milk. This is especially important for the large number of people who are lactose intolerant or avoid dairy products for other reasons (30).

Magnesium: Magnesium is a cofactor in hundreds of enzyme systems, contributing to energy production and DNA synthesis. Rich sources of magnesium include legumes, green leafy vegetables, nuts, beet greens, spinach, bananas, baked potatoes (with skin), many herbs, spices, and



Dietary fiber from fruits and vegetables

Dietary fiber is a diverse group of compounds, mainly complex carbohydrates, which cannot be digested by human enzymes in the small intestine, allowing them to arrive intact in the large intestine. Large prospective cohort studies consistently report inverse associations between consumption of diets rich in fiber and risks of cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Additionally, dietary fiber consumption is inversely associated with the risk of cancer of the esophagus, stomach, colon, pancreas, ovary, and breast (32).

Table 6. Fiber Content per Serving of Selected Foods			
Legumes and vegetables Fiber Fruits I		Fiber	
Food	g per serving	Food	g per serving
Lima beans, cooked, 1 cup	13.2	Raspberries, 1 cup	8.0
Artichoke, cooked, 1 cup	9.2	Pear, 1 medium	5.5
Lentils, cooked, 1 cup	8.8	Kiwifruit, 1 cup	5.4
Brussels sprouts, cooked 1 cup	6.4	Apple, with skin 1 medium	4.8
Chickpeas, cooked, ½ cup	6.3	Figs, dried ¼ cup	3.7
Sweet potato, cooked 1 cup	6.2	Banana, 1 medium	3.2
Kidney beans, cooked, ½ cup	5.7	Strawberries, 1 cup	3.0
Broccoli, cooked 1 cup	5.2	Dates, ¼ cup	3.0

Source: FoodData Central (11)

Dietary fiber and gut health (32,33)

The human gastrointestinal tract (gut) hosts trillions of microorganisms collectively known as the gut microbiome, which plays vital roles in digestion, immune function, and overall health. Different types of fiber selectively promote the growth of different gut bacterial species, contributing to a diverse and balanced microbiome. By adding bulk to stool, dietary fiber improves bowel regularity and reduces transit time, which helps prevent constipation. Additionally, fiber may mitigate carcinoma risk by diluting potential gut carcinogens.

Higher fiber intake is associated with reduced risk of irritable bowel syndrome, inflammatory bowel disease, diverticular disease, hemorrhoids, and colorectal cancer.

The AI for fiber is 38 g for men, and 25 g for women (34). Most high-income countries recommend a daily intake of dietary fiber of 25–35 g for adults and less for children and older adults, depending on age (35).

Good sources of dietary fiber include legumes, nuts, whole grains, bran products, fruit, and non-starchy vegetables.



Proteins

Proteins are the primary structural component of all human cells and play numerous essential physiological roles. Proteins are composed of 20 amino acids, nine of which are essential and must be obtained through dietary intake, as they cannot be synthesized by the human body.

High-quality (complete) proteins are predominantly found in animal-derived foods. However, plant-based sources such as legumes, soy, cereals, nuts, green peas, and potatoes also provide significant amounts of protein. Although most plant proteins are incomplete—lacking one or more essential amino acids—strategic dietary combinations (e.g., legumes with cereals or with nuts) can ensure a complete amino acid profile and meet physiological requirements (36).

Beans, peas, and lentils are excellent plant-based sources of protein and are also rich in dietary fiber, vitamins, and minerals, while being low in fat. The protein content in legumes depends on the type and cultivation method (37).

As demonstrated in Table 8, certain vegetables also serve as sources of dietary protein.

Table 7. Dry Legumes as a Source of Protein		
Legumes (dry)	g protein per 100 g	
Kidney bean	17-27	
Navy bean	19-27	
Black bean	22-23	
Chickpea	19-27	
Lentil	23-31	
Pea	14-31	
Lupin	32-55	
Soybeans	32-43	

Adapted from (37) Zhang W, Boateng ID, Xu J, Zhang Y. Proteins from Legumes, Cereals, and Pseudo-Cereals: Composition, Modification, Bioactivities, and Applications. Foods. 2024 Jun 22;13(13):1974.

Table 8. Vegetables as a Source of Protein			
Vegetable g per servi			
Green peas, 1 cup cooked	8 .1		
Brussels sprouts, 1 cup cooked	5.6		
Potato, 1 medium, baked	4.3		
Avocado, 1 medium	4.0		

Source: FoodData Central (12)



Low energy density (38,39)

Energy density refers to the amount of kilocalories released per gram of food. Foods with high energy density are typically characterized by a higher fat content and lower water content, such as oils, snacks, and chocolate. They may also contain higher amounts of added sugars and/or sodium. In contrast, low-energy-density foods provide fewer kilocalories per gram and are considered beneficial in the prevention and management of obesity and metabolic disorders. Fruits and vegetables are examples of foods with the lowest energy density.

Vegetables, fruits, and cooked legumes are low in fat and high in water and fiber content, contributing to lower energy intake while promoting satiety. For this reason, a high daily intake of fruits and vegetables is strongly recommended in both the prevention and treatment of weight-related conditions like overweight and obesity and obesity-related conditions.

Table 0 Com	narioon of Low-	and Liab-Enarc	y-Density Foods
Tuble 5. Coll	Danson of row-		1V=DEHSILV FUUUS

Low-energy-density food	kcal/100 g	High-energy-density food	kcal/100 g
Cucumber	15	Butter	720
Cabbage	23	Croissant	410
Red pepper	26	Sausage	360
Carrot	41	Mozzarella cheese	310
Cooked beans	125	Chips	570
Apple	52	Peanuts roasted	580
Strawberries	32	Milk chocolate	540
Banana	98	Cookies	480

Source: FoodData Central (12)



FRUITS, VEGETABLES, AND CHRONIC NON-COMMUNICABLE DISEASES

Introduction to chronic non-communicable diseases (CNDs)

Chronic non-communicable diseases (CNDs) represent a major global health challenge, responsible for the majority of illness, disability, and deaths worldwide. CNDs account for around 75% of all deaths globally, while millions of people live with CNDs and experience a reduced quality of life. The main types of CNDs are: cardiovascular diseases, cancers, chronic respiratory diseases, and diabetes, and they account for 80% of all premature CND deaths (2,3,40).

Chronic diseases constitute the primary contributors to mortality and disability in the United States and represent major determinants of annual health care expenditures. Six in 10 Americans have at least one chronic disease, and four in 10 have two or more, (41) and younger Americans will likely face a greater risk of mortality than previous generations (related to obesity) (42).

In the European region, 89% of all deaths are contributed to CNDs. One in five men and one in ten women die before 70 years of age because of CNDs (43).

The major characteristics of CND are summarized in Table 10.

Table 10. Chronic Non-Communicable Diseases – Major Characteristics (2,40,41)		
Leading CNDs	Cardiovascular diseases, cancers, diabetes, and chronic respiratory diseases	
Transmission	Cannot be transmitted from one person to another	
Causative agents	Genetics, behavioral, and environmental factors	
Leading causes	Smoking, unhealthy diet, physical inactivity and harmful use of alcohol	
Metabolic risk factors	Hypertension, obesity, high blood glucose, abnormal blood lipids	
Progression	Generally slow progression over time, tend to be of longer duration	
Consequences	Long-term health consequences often require long-term treatment and care which can be costly	

Modifiable behavioral risk factors that increase the risk of chronic non-communicable diseases are: smoking, unhealthy diet, physical inactivity, and the harmful use of alcohol. Addressing those behavioral factors is essential in both the prevention and treatment of CNDs.



Eating habits that increase the risk of CNDs are:

- Low intake of: vegetables, fruits, fiber, vitamins, and minerals;
- Excess intake of: sodium, added sugar, trans fatty acids, and saturated fats (44,45).

New behavior patterns have promoted a decrease in home cooking along with increases in convenience foods and eating outside of the home. All of these changes are accompanied by the increased consumption of processed, less nutrient-dense food, decreased intake of whole fruits and vegetables, and increased consumption of high added sugar containing foods and beverages. Such dietary habits lead to an increase in chronic noncommunicable diseases (46).

Environmental factors contributing to CNDs include air pollution – indoor and outdoor, environmental toxins exposure, noise, climate changes, etc. (47).

The social determinants of CNDs encompass the conditions in which individuals are born, grow, live, work, and age. These include factors such as socioeconomic status, education, employment, social support, and access to essential resources like nutritious food and safe housing. Poverty, inadequate access to healthcare, low educational attainment, and limited availability of healthy food options significantly increase the risk of developing CNDs. Effectively addressing these determinants is essential for advancing health equity and reducing disparities in chronic disease outcomes (40,48).

Fruits, vegetables, and inflammation

Numerous studies have indicated that prolonged inflammation is a key factor in the pathogenesis of chronic diseases. Immune response characterized by an increased ratio of proinflammatory to anti-inflammatory cytokines leads to chronic inflammation and CNDs (49).

A growing concern is that this inflammatory process may begin in utero, triggered by the maternal inflammatory environment, potentially programming the fetus for an increased risk of chronic disease throughout life (50).

Nutrition and lifestyle are modulators of sustained inflammation. For example, an adequate intake of fruits and vegetables provides essential micronutrients and phytochemicals with the potential to modulate inflammatory processes. As mentioned earlier, many phytochemicals from fruits and vegetables serve as antioxidants, helping to neutralize free radicals and reduce oxidative stress that causes inflammation. Additionally, phytochemicals and micronutrients may exhibit anti-inflammatory effects by modulating inflammatory pathways, improving lipid profiles and vascular function, and providing protection from toxin exposure (21–24).

Vitamin C is another powerful antioxidant that protects against the harmful effects of free radicals and contributes to the regeneration of other antioxidants in the body, such as vitamin E (8,9). Fruits and vegetables are a major source of both vitamin C and phytochemicals.

Lack of dietary vegetable and fruit micronutrient and phytochemical intake have been shown to increase inflammation. When the antioxidant and flavonoid status is inadequate to protect cells and tissues, accelerated damage occurs, promoting degeneration, inflammation, and CNDs (51).

Metabolic risk factors

Key metabolic risk factors that increase the risk of CNDs are:

- Raised blood pressure and hypertension;
- · Overweight and obesity;
- High blood glucose levels and diabetes; and
- Abnormal blood lipids. (2,42,40).



Hypertension

Hypertension is a common public health problem. An estimated 1.28 billion adults aged 30-79 years worldwide (52), and 47.7 % of the US adult population have hypertension (53).

Untreated hypertension leads to atherosclerosis and many degenerative diseases (54):

- Cardiovascular diseases angina pectoris, left ventricular hypertrophy, myocardial infarction, heart failure, arrhythmia, etc.;
- Renal diseases renal failure and end-stage renal disease;
- Cerebrovascular diseases stroke, carotid stenosis, etc.;
- · Peripheral vascular disease;
- Retinopathy.

The relationship between blood pressure and risk of CVD events is continuous and independent of other risk factors. The higher the blood pressure, the greater the chance of target organ damage (54,55).

Hypertension is a leading risk factor for early death and poor health globally (3). It is often called a "silent killer" because people with hypertension can be asymptomatic for years and then have a fatal stroke or heart attack (56).

Risk factors for hypertension (58,52)

Major non-modifiable risk factors for hypertension are genetic predisposition, older age, and race.

Major modifiable risk factors (lifestyle factors) are poor diet, smoking, obesity, physical inactivity, alcohol consumption and stress.

Understanding and managing the modifiable risk factors is essential for both preventing and controlling hypertension.

Adhering to dietary recommendations is crucial for the prevention and management of hypertension, particularly those emphasizing:

- Reduced intake of sodium, saturated and trans fats; and
- Increased intake of potassium, dietary fiber, and fruits and vegetables.



Fruits, vegetables, and hypertension

Numerous studies, as well as dietary recommendations, emphasize the importance of greater long-term intake and increased consumption of fruits and vegetables in the prevention and treatment of hypertension (58-60,4,1).

Fruits and vegetables contribute meaningfully to the prevention and management of hypertension through several well-established mechanisms:

- Low sodium content: Naturally low in sodium—typically containing only 5 to 10 mg per serving—fruits and vegetables help reduce overall dietary sodium intake. This is particularly relevant given that the recommended dietary allowance (RDA) for sodium in adults is 1,500 mg per day, with a Tolerable Upper Intake Level (UL) of 2,300 mg per day (61,62). Using fresh herbs like parsley, basil, rosemary, and oregano is an excellent way to add complex flavor and aroma to dishes, allowing to reduce or eliminate the need for sodium.
- High potassium content: Fruits and vegetables serve as excellent sources of potassium; a nutrient known to mitigate the hypertensive effects of sodium and promote vasodilation (27,62).
- High fiber content: Dietary fiber, abundantly present in legumes, fruits, and vegetables, is associated with improved endothelial function, enhanced lipid profiles, and favorable blood pressure modulation (63,32).
- · Low fat content: Most fresh fruits and vegetables are inherently low in total fat and virtually devoid of saturated fatty acids (11). This characteristic contributes to a reduced risk of endothelial dysfunction, arterial stiffness, and elevated blood pressure.

DASH diet – Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension

The DASH (Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension) diet was developed by the United States National Institutes of Health (NIH) to address high blood pressure. The diet recommends: eating plenty of vegetables, fruits, and whole grains; adding fat-free or low-fat dairy products, fish, poultry, beans, nuts, and vegetable oils; limiting salt; limiting foods that are high in saturated fat, such as fatty meats, full-fat dairy products, and tropical oils; and limiting sweets and sugary beverages (64).

The most significant nutritional profile characteristics of the DASH diet are (65):

- Low content of sodium, saturated fatty acids, and trans fatty acids;
- High content of potassium, fiber, calcium, vitamins, and phytochemicals.



Table 11 presents the DASH diet plan based on a 2,000-kcal daily intake.

Table 11. DASH Diet Plan for 2,000-kcal Daily Intake			
Food Group	Servings per Day	What Counts as a Serving	
Vegetables	4 – 5	1 cup leafy veg, ½ cup cut-up raw or cooked veg	
Fruits	4 – 5	1 medium fruit, 1/2 cup fresh, frozen, or canned	
Grains (whole grains)	6 – 8	1 slice of bread, 1/2 cup cooked rice/pasta/cereal	
Low-fat dairy products	2 – 3	1 cup milk/yogurt, 1.5 oz. cheese	
Lean meats, poultry, fish, egg	6 or less	1 oz. cooked meats, fish, or poultry; 1 egg	
Fats and oils	2 – 3	1 tsp. soft margarine, 1 tsp. vegetable oil	
Nuts, Seeds, Legumes	4 – 5 per week	1/3 cup nuts, 2 tbsp. peanut butter, 1/2 cu p beans	
Sodium	Up to 2,300 mg	Preferably up to 1,500 mg	

Adapted from the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. DASH Eating Plan (66).

The large number of fruits and vegetables recommended in the DASH diet makes it easy to meet the dietary potassium recommendations, approximately 4.7 g/d (27,62). To achieve the 8 to 10 servings, two to three fruits and vegetables should be consumed at each meal (66).

Over the years, a substantial body of evidence has demonstrated the effectiveness of the DASH diet in the prevention and management of hypertension, as well as in reducing the risk of cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, and promoting overall health and well-being (64,67-71). The DASH dietary pattern was also associated with significantly lower all-cause mortality (72).

The National Institute for Health (NIH) supported the DASH diet, named "Best Heart-Healthy Diet" and "Best Diet for High Blood Pressure" in the 2025 Best Diets **report from U.S. News & World Report** (73).

Overweight and obesity

Overweight and obesity are among the key metabolic risk factors for the development and progression of chronic non-communicable diseases (CNDs), with obesity itself being associated with more than 200 distinct conditions. For example, a substantial proportion of diabetes and cardiovascular disease cases are attributable to obesity (74,75).

The global obesity epidemic represents one of the most significant public health challenges of modern society. In 2022, approximately 18% of the global population was living with obesity, while an estimated 43% were classified as overweight (76).



The prevalence of overweight (including obesity) among children and adolescents aged 5 to 19 years has increased markedly, from 8% in 1990 to 20% in 2022 (76). Related to obesity, it is presumed that young people will likely face a greater risk of mortality throughout their lifespan than previous generations (49).

In both the prevention and management of obesity, lifestyle modifications—particularly changes in dietary habits and physical activity—occupy a central role. Despite significant advances in obesity pharmacotherapy (e.g., with GLP-1 receptor agonists) and advances in surgical treatment of obesity, nutritional interventions remain fundamental for optimal outcomes (77,78).

One of the most common nutritional interventions, relevant to both prevention and treatment of obesity, is an increased intake of fruits and vegetables (77,79,4).

Fruits, vegetables, and obesity

Fruits and vegetables play an important role in the prevention and treatment of obesity due to the following characteristics:

- Low energy density: fruits and vegetables provide relatively few calories per gram. For
 instance, 300 grams of cucumber have approximately the same caloric value as only
 10 grams of chocolate or 5 grams (one teaspoon) of butter (11).
- Low in fat: most fruits and vegetables are naturally low in fat, usually containing less than 0.5 grams of fat per 100 grams of produce (11).
- **High in fiber:** as discussed in part III 4. fruits and vegetables are a good source of dietary fiber, which enhances satiety.
- High content of essential micronutrients: fruits and vegetables are an excellent source of numerous vitamins, minerals, and phytochemicals, as discussed in part III 1., 2., and 3.

Fruits and vegetables are high in water and low in fat, contributing to low energy density and reduced calorie intake while promoting satiety (38,39). Additionally, a high intake of dietary fiber and essential micronutrients from fruits and vegetables can promote the feeling of fullness and reduce the intake of energy-dense foods, resulting in a decreased risk of overweight and obesity (80,81).

From a preventive standpoint, a high daily intake of fruits and vegetables is recommended. For adults with a daily caloric requirement of approximately 2000 kcal, the guideline is to consume at least two and a half servings of vegetables and two servings of fruit per day, with one serving generally corresponding to one cup (4). In the context of obesity treatment, even greater quantities of vegetables are frequently advised to aid in weight management and support satiety and nutritional adequacy.

General recommendations for patients with obesity most commonly include the

following (82,83):

- Increase the amount of vegetables in appetizers, sandwiches, and main dishes to enhance meal volume without significantly increasing caloric content.
- Consume a variety of salads as frequently as possible but avoid adding high-fat dressings. Whole, fresh fruits are particularly effective when displacing more energydense foods
- Add fresh fruit to desserts to improve nutritional quality and increase dietary fiber without excessive caloric intake.
- Add legumes such as beans, lentils, and chickpeas to soups,
 stews, and salads to increase fiber and protein intake while maintaining satiety.

Diabetes

Diabetes mellitus is a group of metabolic diseases characterized by prolonged high blood glucose concentrations (hyperglycemia). Approximately one in nine adults worldwide (84) and one in ten adults in the United States (85) are living with diabetes. Over the past three decades, the prevalence of type 2 diabetes has increased dramatically across countries of all income levels, and this trend is projected to continue (86).

Diabetes contributes to a considerable increase in morbidity and mortality, which can be reduced by early diagnosis and treatment. Chronic, untreated hyperglycemia typically leads to vascular complications and progressive organ damage, including coronary heart disease, peripheral vascular disease, cerebrovascular disease, diabetic retinopathy, diabetic nephropathy, and diabetic neuropathy (87).

Diabetes, along with its associated kidney complications, was responsible for over two million deaths globally in 2021. Additionally, elevated blood glucose levels contributed to approximately 11% of all cardiovascular-related deaths (86).

Non-modifiable risk factors for diabetes include older age, family history of diabetes, ethnicity, and history of gestational diabetes (88).

Modifiable risk factors for diabetes include overweight and obesity, unhealthy dietary patterns, physical inactivity, smoking, and elevated blood pressure. For both the prevention of type 2 diabetes and the mitigation of its complications, it is essential to address those modifiable risk factors (88,89).

Fruits, vegetables, and diabetes

Vegetables and fruit have been shown in numerous studies to exert a protective effect against diabetes. This protective effect is most attributed to the high content of dietary fiber, phytonutrients, and antioxidants found in vegetables and fruit (90-92).



As discussed in Part III, fruits and vegetables represent an important source of dietary fiber. Diets rich in dietary fiber play a crucial role in diabetes prevention and management, leading to notable improvements in glycemic control, lipid profiles, body weight regulation, and inflammatory markers. Dietary fiber helps delay the absorption of carbohydrates, which in turn reduces postprandial blood glucose levels. It also supports improved insulin sensitivity and promotes more effective insulin secretion, helping to counteract insulin resistance. Dietary fiber contributes significantly to the control of several markers, such as HbA1c, blood glucose, triglycerides, LDL, and body weight. Additionally, increased fiber intake has been linked to a lower risk of premature mortality in individuals with diabetes (93–95).

Fruits and vegetables also contain all various phytochemicals, including polyphenols, flavonoids, and antioxidants that may improve insulin sensitivity and could further decrease the risk of type 2 diabetes. In the context of diabetes prevention, particular attention has been given to specific types of fruits and vegetables due to their bioactive compounds. Berries, for example, are rich in anthocyanins, green leafy and yellow vegetables are notable sources of carotenoids, while cruciferous vegetables contain substantial amounts of glucosinolates and other phytochemicals with potential antioxidant and anti-diabetic properties (96,97).

Dietary patterns rich in fruits and vegetables are also critically important for the prevention and management of obesity and hypertension, which are major risk factors associated with diabetes. As previously discussed, fruits and vegetables play a vital role in both the prevention and treatment of overweight and obesity, primarily due to their low energy density, high micronutrient content, and abundance of dietary fiber, which enhances satiety (77,79–81). Fruits and vegetables are also widely recommended for the prevention and treatment of hypertension—another risk factor associated with diabetes—as they are naturally low in sodium and rich in potassium, dietary fiber, and essential micronutrients that contribute to blood pressure regulation and overall cardiovascular health (1,4,58–60).

Individuals with diabetes should be encouraged to consume an adequate amount of dietary fiber as part of their overall dietary management. Key sources of dietary fiber include vegetables, pulses (such as beans, lentils, and chickpeas), whole fruits, and whole grains. These foods not only provide substantial amounts of fiber but are also rich in essential micronutrients and bioactive compounds that contribute to overall metabolic health. Integrating these fiber-rich foods into daily dietary patterns is a practical and evidence-based strategy for supporting long-term diabetes management and reducing the risk of comorbid conditions (93,94).

As part of diabetes management, the American Diabetes Association recommends filling half of the plate with non-starchy vegetables at each meal to support glycemic control, weight management, and overall metabolic health (98).



Cardiovascular diseases

Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) are a group of diseases that include atherosclerosis, hypertension, ischemic heart disease (angina, myocardial infarction), peripheral vascular disease, heart failure, and cerebrovascular disease (stroke).

Cardiovascular diseases are the leading cause of death in both developed and developing nations. The Central Europe, Eastern Europe, and Central Asia regions experience the highest cardiovascular disease mortality rates in the world. The second highest cardiovascular disease mortality rates occurred in the North Africa and Middle East region. In most regions of the world, the leading cause of cardiovascular disease mortality is ischemic heart disease, followed by stroke (3).

It is estimated that one in three adult Americans has one or more types of cardiovascular diseases, and one in every three deaths is attributed to CVD. Heart disease is the number one cause of death and disability in the United States (3,99).

Behavioral risk factors

Behavioral risk factors for cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) are of critical importance, as they can be influenced through targeted strategies, including lifestyle modifications and evidence-based medical interventions. Implementing such strategies provides individuals with a substantial opportunity to reduce their risk of developing CVDs or experiencing associated complications. For individuals already diagnosed with CVD, managing modifiable risk factors is essential for controlling the disease, preventing complications, and improving quality of life.

Major behavioral risk factors for cardiovascular diseases are unhealthy diet, physical inactivity, smoking, and harmful use of alcohol. These factors often lead to metabolic risk factors, including elevated blood pressure, increased blood glucose and lipid levels, and obesity, which further increase the risk of cardiovascular diseases (100,101).

Diet is one of the key modifiable risk factors. According to strong evidence from a systematic review conducted by the 2025 Dietary Guidelines Advisory Committee, a lower risk of CVDs is associated with higher intakes of vegetables, fruits, legumes, nuts, whole grains, and unsaturated fats relative to saturated fats, as well as lower intake of sodium, red and processed meats, refined grains, and sugar-sweetened foods and beverages. These findings were consistent across diverse racial/ethnic groups and socioeconomic positions (102).

Fruits, vegetables, and CVDs

For several decades, findings from both observational and intervention studies from all regions in the world have consistently demonstrated that diets rich in fruits and vegetables are associated with a reduced risk of cardiovascular disease (102-109).



As mentioned earlier, key metabolic risk factors for CVDs are hypertension, overweight and obesity, diabetes, and abnormal blood lipids. Dietary patterns rich in fruits and vegetables are critically important for the prevention and management of several major risk factors associated with cardiovascular diseases (CVDs):

- **Hypertension:** The consumption of fruits and vegetables is strongly recommended in the prevention and treatment of hypertension, primarily due to their low sodium content and high levels of potassium and dietary fiber, and other vasculoprotective nutrients (27,61-63).
- **Obesity:** Owing to their low energy density and high content of water, fiber, and essential micronutrients, fruits and vegetables contribute to energy balance and satiety and are therefore widely recommended in both the prevention and treatment of obesity (4,11, 77,79).
- **Diabetes:** Diets abundant in fruits and vegetables support glycemic control and insulin sensitivity through their fiber content, antioxidant compounds, and low glycemic load, making them a key component in diabetes prevention and management (93-97).
- Abnormal blood lipids: Regular intake of fruits and vegetables, characterized by
 low levels of total and saturated fats and high fiber content (11), has been shown to
 reduce serum cholesterol and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) concentrations—major
 contributors to the development of atherosclerosis.
- **Inflammation:** Fruits and vegetables are rich in bioactive compounds such as vitamin C, polyphenols, and other antioxidants, which exert anti-inflammatory effects. These properties are particularly relevant given the central role of chronic inflammation in the pathogenesis of CVDs (21-24).

All forms of fruits and vegetables (fresh, frozen, canned, and dried) can be incorporated into heart-healthy dietary patterns. Fruits and vegetables may be consumed raw or processed in various ways, while types with added salt and sugar should be limited (110). Vegetables can be included in a wide range of mixed dishes, including soups, stews, pasta and rice dishes, casseroles, omelets, sandwiches, etc. Fruits are most commonly consumed in nutrient-dense forms, such as fresh fruit, although they are also frequently included in desserts and fresh fruit juices. (4).

Most people would benefit from increasing their intake of fruit and vegetables. Incorporating a diverse range of fresh fruits and vegetables into the daily diet plays a crucial role in ensuring adequate intake of essential nutrients, such as vitamins, minerals, and dietary fiber, as well as a wide array of health-promoting phytochemicals. This comprehensive nutritional profile contributes significantly to the establishment and maintenance of heart-healthy dietary patterns, which are associated with a reduced risk of cardiovascular diseases (111).

Mediterranean diet

The Mediterranean diet is one of the most extensively studied and widely recognized dietary patterns worldwide, based on the traditional eating habits of populations in



countries bordering the Mediterranean Sea. Historically, this dietary pattern has been associated with low rates of chronic diseases and greater longevity among adults (112). The Mediterranean diet promotes plant-based foods, including a wide variety of vegetables, whole grains, legumes, and the use of fruits as desserts. Olive oil serves as the primary source of fat, while fish, poultry, and dairy are consumed in moderation, and red meat is limited to occasional intake (113).

Since the 1950s, strong evidence from numerous observational and interventional studies has demonstrated the benefits of the Mediterranean diet in preventing cardiovascular diseases and supporting overall health and life expectancy. In many studies, higher adherence to the Mediterranean diet was also associated with reduced risk of chronic diseases, myocardial infarction, overall cancer incidence, neurodegenerative diseases, dementia, and diabetes (112-118).

Table 12. presents the Mediterranean diet plan based on a 2,000-kcal daily intake (4).

Table 12. Mediterranean-Style Dietary Pattern for 2,000 kcal daily intake				
Food Group	Servings per day	What Counts as a Serving		
Vegetables	2.5	1 cup raw or cooked vegetables; 2 cups leafy salad greens		
Fruits	2.5	1 cup raw fruit; 1 cup fruit juice; ½ cup dried fruit		
Grains (whole grains)	6	1 ounce slice of bread, 1/2 cup cooked rice/pasta/cereal		
Low-fat dairy products	2	1 cup milk/yogurt, 1.5 oz. cheese		
Protein food	6.5	1 oz. cooked fish, or poultry, or meat; 1 egg;		
		½ oz. nuts or seeds		
Olive oil	27 g			

Adapted from Dietary guidelines for Americans, 2020–2025 (4)

Year after year, the Mediterranean diet ranks among the best in the U.S. News & World Report's annual list of top diets (119). Also, many health organizations and dietitians consider it one of the healthiest diets in the world.

Cancer

Cancer is a generic term for a large group of diseases that can affect any part of the body. Other terms used are malignant tumors and neoplasms. In 2022, cancer accounted for approximately 20 million new cases and nearly 10 million deaths globally, making it the second leading cause of death worldwide. The global burden of cancer is projected to grow, with incidence and mortality rates set to rise by 40% and 50%, respectively, by 2040. In the United States, with more than 2,3 million new cases in 2022, cancer ranked as the second leading cause of death, accounting for approximately one in every six deaths (120).

In Europe, cancer was responsible for 4.5 million new cases and nearly 2 million deaths, making it the second leading cause of death in 2022 (121). Risk of developing cancer before the age of 75 years was higher in the U.S. than in Europe, 34.3% and 27%, respectively (120).

Globally, and in both the U.S. and Europe, the most common cancer among males is prostate cancer, while among females, it is breast cancer. Lung cancer is the second most common cancer in both sexes (globally, in the U.S., and among males in Europe), followed by colorectal cancer as the third most common globally and in the U.S., and as the second most common among women in Europe (120).

Approximately 10.9% of cancer cases among women and 4.8% among men in the United States were linked to overweight or obesity, making it the second leading preventable cause of cancer after cigarette smoking. For certain cancer types, the proportion attributed to excess body fat is particularly high: obesity was responsible for 60.3% of corpus uteri cancers and over 30% of cases of gallbladder, liver, kidney/renal pelvis cancers, and esophageal adenocarcinomas (122,123).

Adopting effective prevention strategies is a key approach to addressing the growing incidence of various cancers. Central to these strategies are healthy lifestyle choices, including maintaining a healthy weight, following a balanced diet, engaging in regular physical activity, avoiding smoking, limiting alcohol consumption and sun exposure, and ensuring adequate vitamin D intake. These modifiable risk factors significantly influence cancer development, progression, and severity, especially in the three most frequent cancers: breast, colorectal, and prostate cancers (124–126).

Adherence to a prudent dietary pattern has been linked to reduced all-cause mortality across various types of cancer. This dietary pattern is characterized by higher intake of vegetables, whole fruits, whole grains, legumes, nuts, omega-3 fatty acids, and polyunsaturated fats, along with limited consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages, red and processed meats, sodium, trans fats, and moderate alcohol use (127).

Fruits, vegetables, and cancer

Several studies have shown that diets high in vegetables, fruits, and their associated compounds—such as fiber and antioxidants—are associated with a reduced risk of cancer (128). The Mediterranean diet is considered one of the most effective dietary patterns and may be regarded as a recommended therapeutic dietary strategy (123,129). The anti-carcinogenic potential of fruits and vegetables is attributed to a combination of bioactive compounds and nutritional components that work through multiple biological mechanisms:

• Fruits and vegetables are abundant in antioxidants such as vitamin C, carotenoids, and flavonoids, which help neutralize free radicals and reduce oxidative DNA damage—a known contributor to cancer development (8,9).



- Many fruits and vegetables contain naturally occurring phytochemicals such as glucosinolates, polyphenols, and indoles that modulate inflammatory pathways and may inhibit tumor initiation and progression (21-24).
- Dietary fiber, particularly from whole fruits, vegetables, and legumes, is associated with a reduced risk of colorectal and other gastrointestinal cancers. Fiber promotes regular bowel movements, reduces transit time, and may dilute carcinogens in the gut (130).
- Fruits and vegetables are generally low in calories and fat, supporting a healthy body weight—an important factor in cancer prevention, particularly for hormone-related cancers such as breast, endometrial, and prostate cancers (125).

Table 13. Major Anti-Cancer Phytochemicals, their Sources, and the Related Benefits

Anticancer phytochemicals	Sources	Benefits	Reference	
Flavones	Red and yellow fruits and vegetables (watermelons, bell peppers, etc.)	 Reduced risk of coronary heart diseases, cancers, chronic inflammation, osteoporosis, and other agerelated diseases. Lowering estrogen levels can help inhibit breast tumor growth and reduce the risk of recurrence. 	(131)	
Isoflavones	Sour cherries, tomatoes, broccoli, carrots	 Inhibition of cancer cell growth, suppression of metastasis, and induction of apoptosis. Inhibits the proliferation of breast cancer cells by inducing cell cycle arrest. 	(132)	
Prenylated flavonoids	Morus alba, artocarpus heterophyllus, glycine max, and ficus carica	 Anti-cancer, anti-inflammatory, neuroprotective, anti-diabetic, anti-obesity, cardioprotective effects, and anti-osteoclastogenic activities. Induced apoptosis suppresses cytotoxicity against human breast cancer cells. 	(133)	
Lignans	Potatoes, broccoli, berries	 Resolves immunodeficiency, cancer, inflammation, hypertension, and hyperlipidemia. Reduced risks of postmenopausal breast cancer. 	(134)	
Sitosterol	Fat-rich vegetables (avocados)	 Reduces immunomodulatory, antimicrobial, anticancer, anti – inflammatory, and lipid-lowering effect. Inhibits breast cancer cell growth and induces apoptosis. 	(135)	

Source: Kim M, Lee M, Sa J, 2025 (136)

Despite progress in cancer diagnosis and treatment leading to improved clinical outcomes, many patients struggle to maintain adequate nutritional status due to cancer-related symptoms and treatment side effects—factors that can adversely affect overall health outcomes. It means that beyond prevention, the type of food consumed

also plays a significant role in the treatment of cancer (137). Guidelines were developed by the American Cancer Society, which include evidence-based recommendations for both cancer prevention and treatment. These recommendations include achieve and maintain a healthy weight; be physically active; avoid alcohol; and follow a healthy eating pattern at all ages (123,138).

A healthy eating pattern is defined as:

- Foods that are high in nutrients in amounts that help patients achieve and maintain a healthy body weight;
- A variety of vegetables dark green, red, and orange, fiber-rich legumes (beans and peas), and others;
- Fruits, especially whole fruits in a variety of colors; and
- · Whole grains.

In addition to what is recommended to consume, a healthy eating pattern limits red and processed meats, sugar-sweetened beverages, highly processed foods, and refined grain products (123,138).

The guidelines include a comprehensive table summarizing the relationship between key lifestyle factors and specific cancer types (123,138). Selected dietary recommendations that include fruits and vegetables are presented in Table 14.

Table 14. Dietary Recommendations for Cancer Patients and Survivors			
Cancer site	Dietary recommendations		
Breast	 Dietary patterns rich in plant foods and low in anumal products and refined carbohydrates lower risk The Mediterranean diet patter lowers risk Consumption of non-starchy vegetables and/or vegetables rich in carotenoids may lower the risk for estrogen receptor-negative breast tumors 		
Colorectal	 A healthy eating pattern with whole grains, higher fiber, and less added sugar lowers risk Consuming non-starchy vegetables and whole fruits probably lowers risk 		
Lung	Consuming non-starchy vegetables and whole fruits, including those high in vitamin C (especially for smokers), probably lowers risk		
Stomach/gastric	Intake of non-starchy vegetables and whole fruits, especially citrus fruits, probably lowers risk		
Upper aerodigestive	Consumption of non-starchy vegetables and whole fruits probably lowers risk		

Chronic respiratory diseases

Chronic respiratory diseases are long-term conditions that affect the lungs and airways. Common types include chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), asthma, occupational lung diseases, and pulmonary hypertension.

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease is a progressive respiratory disorder characterized by airflow limitation that is not fully reversible. It is the eighth leading cause of poor health worldwide and the fourth leading cause of death worldwide, responsible for 3.5 million deaths in 2021, accounting for approximately 5% of all global deaths (139). In the U.S., COPD caused 54.3 deaths per 100,000 population in women and 47.6 per 100,000 population in men in 2021 (140).

Asthma affected an estimated 262 million people in 2019 and caused 460,000 deaths (141). In the U.S., around 27 million people are living with asthma (8.2% of the U.S. population), with 10.6 deaths per million population reported in 2021 (142). Across Europe, the prevalence of asthma ranges from 5.1% to 8.2% in adults, causing between 0.15 and 2.39 deaths per 100,000 population (143, 144).

Chronic respiratory diseases are often linked to smoking, but other risk factors include air pollution, exposure to workplace chemicals and dust, and repeated lower respiratory infections in childhood (139, 145).

Diet and nutrition are modifiable factors that influence the development and progression of chronic lung diseases and infections (146-150). Various nutrients—including vitamins A, C, D, and E; minerals like zinc, selenium, iron, and magnesium; as well as flavonoids and fatty acids—help reduce the risk of chronic lung diseases and viral infections (151). Oxidative stress, driven by chronic airway inflammation, plays a key role in asthma (152). Antioxidant-rich foods like fruits and vegetables can counteract this by neutralizing reactive oxygen species and reducing inflammation, while low-antioxidant diets may worsen oxidative stress and increase the risk of allergic diseases (153).

Evidence highlights the role of nutrition in both the early stages and progression of obstructive pulmonary diseases like asthma and COPD, as well as in the body's defense against lung infections. Macronutrients, micronutrients, and bioactive compounds help maintain homeostasis and regulate inflammatory responses in lung tissue (154).







Fruits, vegetables, and chronic respiratory diseases

High fruit consumption is linked to a lower risk of COPD, with specific fruits like apples, pears, and bananas showing the strongest associations. Current smokers consuming less than one serving of fruits and vegetables per day had a 38-fold higher risk of COPD compared to never smokers who consumed three or more servings daily. Similarly, ex-smokers with low fruit intake faced a 13-fold higher risk than never smokers with high consumption (155). A three-year randomized controlled trial demonstrated that increasing fruit and vegetable intake can lead to significant improvements in lung function among patients with COPD (156).

Antioxidants found in fruits and vegetables—such as vitamin C, vitamin E, carotenoids, and polyphenols—play a critical role in neutralizing reactive oxygen species generated by smoking and environmental pollutants. By mitigating oxidative damage and inflammation in the airways, these nutrients may slow disease progression and reduce susceptibility (157).

Fruits and vegetables support asthma management by providing key nutrients: vitamin A boosts lung health via immune regulation, vitamin E reduces symptoms and inflammation, magnesium improves breathing through bronchodilation, and selenium protects airways from oxidative damage. Flavonoids reduce inflammation and airway sensitivity, while fiber enhances lung immunity by promoting gut health (151).

Gastrointestinal health

The gastrointestinal tract is a complex organ system responsible not only for digestion, absorption, and nutrient processing, but also for immune defense, hormone production, and communication with the brain via the gut-brain axis (158-161). It plays a central role in maintaining fluid and electrolyte balance, supporting the gut microbiome, and eliminating undigested material (162). Proper gastrointestinal function and motility are essential for overall health, metabolism, and disease prevention (163).

It is estimated that the global prevalence of constipation is 14% (164). Chronic constipation imposes a significant economic burden on both patients and healthcare systems, as evidenced by multiple studies conducted in the United States and Europe. In the U.S., the total annual cost was estimated at \$235 million, while a 2010 analysis reported constipation-related healthcare expenses reaching up to \$11,991 per individual annually, nearly half of which were attributed to outpatient services (165–168).

Maintaining a healthy gut begins with the foods, and fruits and vegetables offer some of the most effective components for gut support. The World Gastroenterology Association recommends increasing fiber intake through dietary modification for constipation treatment (169). In the United Kingdom, professional guidelines for healthcare providers also emphasize the inclusion of fruits—particularly those high in sorbitol, such as apricots,

peaches, and plums, as part of dietary strategies to support gastrointestinal health (170). Apricots are also rich in fiber, as are grapes and kiwifruit (171-173). According to the Dietary Guidelines for Americans, 2020–2025, adults should aim to consume between 22 and 34 grams of fiber daily, with specific needs varying by age and sex (4).

The gut microbiota, a complex ecosystem of bacteria, fungi, and viruses, regulates immune responses and supports intestinal integrity. Fruits and vegetables modulate the gut microbiome, enhance short-chain fatty acid production, and support gastrointestinal immunity. Fruits, rich in dietary fiber, polyphenols, vitamins, and antioxidants, not only enhance immune function but also reduce gastrointestinal inflammation and increase microbial diversity (20-22,173,174,175). The apple, grape, and berries have a significant role in maintaining gastrointestinal microbiota (176-178). Vegetable fiber and plant compounds promote beneficial gut bacteria and overall metabolic balance (175).

In addition, fresh fruits and vegetables contain fiber, phytonutrients, and natural sugars that trigger the release of gut hormones like:

- GLP-1 improves insulin secretion, reduces appetite;
- PYY promotes satiety (feeling full);
- Serotonin (5-HT) regulates mood and gut movement;
- GIP helps regulate blood sugar.

These hormones are crucial for metabolic and emotional balance. High-fiber meals increase GLP-1 and PYY levels, regulate ghrelin (hunger hormone), and support satiety (161, 163, 179).

Dietary fiber, especially from whole fruits, vegetables, and legumes, is linked to a lower risk of colorectal and other gastrointestinal cancers. It supports regular bowel movements, shortens transit time, and may dilute carcinogens in the digestive tract. Consuming non-starchy vegetables and whole fruits likely contributes to further risk reduction due to their protective nutrients and health-promoting properties (130,138,180).

Mental health

WHO defines mental health as a state of mental well-being that enables people to cope with the stresses of life, to realize their abilities, to learn well and work well, and to contribute to their communities. Mental health is not just the mere absence of mental illness; it is an intrinsic part of our health and well-being, and it is crucial to personal, community and socio-economic development (181).

Mental health conditions encompass mental disorders, psychosocial disabilities, and other mental states that involve significant distress, functional impairment, or an increased risk of self-harm (181). According to the Global burden of disease study, in 2023, about 1 in 7 people worldwide—roughly 1.2 billion individuals—were living with a mental



disorder, with anxiety and depression being the most prevalent (3). In the U.S., mental health conditions are among the most common health issues, with 31.9% of adolescents and 22.8% of adults receiving mental health treatment in 2022 (182).

United Nations Rev. 4 Political declaration of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases and the promotion of mental health and well-being emphasize that noncommunicable diseases and mental health and well-being are closely intertwined with brain health and neurological conditions. Mental health conditions and neurological conditions contribute to the global incidence and impact of noncommunicable diseases, and people living with mental health conditions and neurological conditions also have an increased risk of other noncommunicable diseases and therefore have higher rates of morbidity and mortality (183).

Risk factors for mental health conditions include abuse and violence, bullying, sudden loss of a loved one, unemployment, genetic factors, substance abuse, unhealthy diet, chronic disease, climate crisis, conflict and forced displacement, poor access to services, discrimination, etc. (181).

The potential protective effects of healthy lifestyles, including healthy diet, on both mental and brain health, has become a research focus over the past decade. In numerous studies, adherence to a high-quality diet, like Mediterranean diet or a diet that contains higher consumption of vegetables, fruits and fish were associated with lower anxiety and depression scores (184,185). In contrast, Western dietary patterns rich in processed foods, refined carbohydrates, and pro-inflammatory foods have been linked to a higher prevalence of depression and anxiety symptoms (185,186). Dietary recommendations for the prevention of depression include adherence to traditional dietary patterns, such as the Mediterranean, Norwegian, or Japanese diet, increased consumption of fruits, vegetables, legumes, whole grains, nuts, and seeds, high intake of foods rich in omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids, substitution of unhealthy food items with nutrient-dense, wholesome alternatives, and the limitation of processed foods, fast foods, commercial baked products, and sweets (187).

Several biological mechanisms underline the connection between diet and mental health, including systemic inflammation, oxidative stress, and gut-brain axis. A Western diet high in processed foods promotes chronic inflammation and the release of cytokines that can cross the blood-brain barrier and play a role in the development of depression and anxiety symptoms (185).



Fruits, vegetables, and mental health

A systematic review of 61 observational studies found that higher fruit and vegetable intake is linked to better mental health outcomes, particularly reduced depressive symptoms and improved well-being. Specific subgroups such as berries, citrus, and leafy greens showed the strongest benefits, including greater optimism, self-efficacy, and lower psychological distress. Although methodological diversity across studies limited comparability, the consistent positive associations support recommendations of at least five portions of fruits and vegetables daily for mental health benefits (188).

The Mediterranean diet rich in fruits, vegetables, polyphenols, fiber and olive oil, is associated with a reduced risk of recurrent depression (189), as well as significant improvements in mood and reduced anxiety in adults with major depression (190).

Several mechanisms have been proposed to explain the positive effects of healthy dietary patterns and increased intake of fruits and vegetables rich in vitamins, minerals, phytochemicals, and fiber on mental health. It is estimated that diets abundant in anti-inflammatory compounds, antioxidants, and essential nutrients enhance neurotransmitter function, lower systemic inflammation, and foster a healthy gut microbiota, all of which may contribute to better mood regulation and stress resilience (191,192).

In addition, chronic non-communicable diseases are significant risk factors for mental disorders, and as demonstrated in Part IV, diets rich in fruits and vegetables contribute significantly to the prevention and management of CNDs, including cardiovascular disease, diabetes, obesity and cancer.

The Mediterranean-DASH Intervention for Neurodegenerative Delay ("MIND") diet combines the principles of the Mediterranean and DASH diets and was designed to improve nervous system function and delay the progression of neurodegenerative diseases. This diet emphasizes a high intake of vegetables, fruits, nuts, whole grain cereal products, olive oil, fish, and seafood. The MIND diet is beneficial for cognitive decline during aging, as well as for the prevention and progression of neurodegenerative diseases, including Alzheimer's disease (193,194).

Studies on children have also demonstrated that children who ate regular, balanced meals, especially those consuming more fruits and vegetables, had significantly higher mental well-being scores than children who consumed poor-quality options or skipped meals (195).



CONCLUSIONS

Fruits and vegetables are nutrient-dense foods, meaning they provide vitamins, minerals, and other health-promoting components, and have no added sugar, saturated fat, and sodium.

Fruits and vegetables are rich dietary sources of several essential *vitamins*, including vitamin C, a powerful antioxidant; provitamin A, which supports visual processes; folate, necessary for DNA synthesis; and vitamin K, important for blood coagulation. In addition, fruits and vegetables are a primary dietary source of numerous *phytochemicals* that exhibit antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, anticancer, and cardioprotective properties. Furthermore, fruits and vegetables are rich in several *minerals*, including non-heme iron and potassium, which play an important role in the prevention of hypertension.

Fruits and non-starchy vegetables are a good source of *dietary fiber*, while legumes, green peas, and green leafy vegetables are a good source of plant-based *proteins*. Additionally, fruits and vegetables are foods with the *lowest energy density* and are therefore strongly recommended for both the prevention and treatment of obesity and obesity-related conditions.

Numerous studies, as well as dietary recommendations, emphasize the importance of greater long-term intake of fruits and vegetables in the prevention and treatment of **chronic non-communicable diseases**, which are responsible for most illnesses, disabilities, and deaths worldwide. Key metabolic risk factors that increase the risk of CNDs are hypertension, obesity and diabetes.

Hypertension is a leading risk factor for early death and poor health worldwide. Because fruits and vegetables are high in potassium and fiber and low in sodium and fat, diets rich in fruits and vegetables—such as the DASH diet—are strongly recommended for the prevention and management of hypertension.

The global **obesity** epidemic represents one of the most significant public health challenges of modern society. Fruits and vegetables play an important role in the prevention and treatment of obesity due to the following characteristics: low energy density, low fat content, high fiber content that enhances satiety, and a high content of vitamins and minerals.

Diabetes contributes to a considerable increase in morbidity and mortality. Numerous studies have shown that fruits and vegetables exert a protective effect against diabetes primarily due to their high content of dietary fiber, phytonutrients, and antioxidants. Dietary fiber helps delay the absorption of carbohydrates, reducing postprandial blood glucose levels and improving insulin sensitivity.

Cardiovascular diseases are the leading cause of death in both developed and developing nations. For several decades, findings from both observational and intervention studies from all regions in the world have consistently demonstrated that diets rich in fruits and vegetables are associated with a reduced risk of cardiovascular disease. Additionally, dietary patterns rich in fruits and vegetables, such as the Mediterranean diet, are critically important for the prevention and management of several major risk factors associated with cardiovascular diseases, including hypertension, obesity, diabetes, abnormal blood lipids, and inflammation.

In the United States and Europe, *cancer* ranks as the second leading cause of death. Several studies have shown that diets high in vegetables, fruits, and their associated compounds—such as fiber and antioxidants—are associated with a reduced risk of cancer. The anti-carcinogenic potential of fruits and vegetables is attributed to a combination of bioactive compounds and nutritional components, including antioxidants such as vitamin C and vitamin E, phytochemicals, dietary fiber, and the promotion of a healthy body weight.

Diet and nutrition are modifiable factors that influence the development and progression of *chronic respiratory diseases* and infections. Antioxidants found in fruits and vegetables—such as vitamin C, vitamin E, carotenoids, and polyphenols—play a critical role in neutralizing reactive oxygen species generated by smoking and environmental pollutants, thereby mitigating oxidative damage and inflammation in the airways, slowing progression of chronic respiratory diseases, and reducing susceptibility.

Fruits and vegetables offer some of the most effective components to support *gastrointestinal health*. Fresh produce helps modulate the gut microbiome and enhance gastrointestinal immunity. Dietary fiber, especially from whole fruits, vegetables, and legumes, promotes regular bowel movements and is associated with a lower risk of colorectal and other gastrointestinal cancers.

Mental health is a vital component of overall well-being that enables individuals to cope with life's challenges, realize their potential, and contribute meaningfully to society. Evidence shows that healthy dietary patterns, especially those rich in fruits, vegetables, and whole foods like those included in the Mediterranean and MIND diets, are associated with better mental health outcomes, including reduced depression and anxiety.

In this review it was explained how adequate nutrition and a high daily intake of fruits and vegetables play a crucial role in the prevention and treatment of chronic noncommunicable diseases, as well as in maintaining good health and a high quality of life. Consequently, all leading health organizations and dietary guidelines worldwide recommend a high daily intake of fruits and vegetables.



LITERATURE (Vancouver style)

- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
 Dietary guidelines [Internet]. Rome: FAO; [cited 2025 May].

 Available from: https://www.fao.org/nutrition/education/dietary-quidelines/regions/en/
- World Health Organization. Noncommunicable diseases [Internet]. Geneva: WHO; [cited 2025 May]. Available from: https://www.who.int/health-topics/noncommunicablediseases#tab=tab_1
- Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME). Global Burden of Disease 2023: Findings from the GBD 2023 Study. Seattle, WA: IHME, 2025.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Dietary guidelines for Americans, 2020–2025. 9th ed. Washington (DC): U.S. Government Publishing Office; 2020.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture. MyPlate: vegetables
 [Internet]. Washington (DC): USDA; [cited 2025 May].
 Available from: https://www.myplate.gov/eat-healthy/food-group-gallery#vegetables
- Institute of Medicine (US). Introduction to the dietary reference intakes. In: Institute of Medicine (US). Dietary reference intakes: the essential guide to nutrient requirements. Washington (DC): National Academies Press; 2006. p. 5-17.
- The vitamins: what is a vitamin? In: Combs GF Jr., McClung JP. The vitamins: fundamental aspects in nutrition and health. 6th ed. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2022. p. 3-6.
- Levine M, Padayatty SJ. Vitamin C. In: Ross AC, Caballero B, Cousins RJ, Tucker KL, Ziegler TR, editors. Modern nutrition in health and disease. 11th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Wolters Kluwer/ Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2020. p. 399-415.
- National Institutes of Health (US), Office of Dietary
 Supplements. Vitamin C: fact sheet for health professionals
 [Internet]. Bethesda (MD): NIH; 2021 Mar 26 [cited 2025 May].
 Available from: https://ods.od.nih.gov/factsheets/VitaminC-HealthProfessional/
- Institute of Medicine (US) Food and Nutrition Board. Vitamin C. In: Dietary reference intakes for vitamin C, vitamin E, selenium, and carotenoids. Washington (DC): National Academies Press; 2000. p. 95-185.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Research Service.
 FoodData Central [Internet]. Beltsville (MD): USDA; [cited 2025 May]. Available from: https://fdc.nal.usda.gov/
- Carazo A, Macáková K, Matoušová K, Krčmová LK, Protti M, Mladěnka P. Vitamin A Update: Forms, Sources, Kinetics, Detection, Function, Deficiency, Therapeutic Use and Toxicity. Nutrients. 2021 May 18;13(5):1703.

- Olsen T, Lerner UH. Vitamin A a scoping review for Nordic nutrition Recommendations 2023. Food Nutr Res. 2023 Nov 7:67.
- 14. Institute of Medicine (US) Food and Nutrition Board. Vitamin A. In: Dietary reference intakes for vitamin A, vitamin K, arsenic, boron, chromium, copper, iodine, iron, manganese, molybdenum, nickel, silicon, vanadium, and zinc. Washington (DC): National Academies Press; 2001. p. 82-161.
- 15. Folate. In: Combs GF Jr., McClung JP. The vitamins: fundamental aspects in nutrition and health. 6th ed. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2022. p. 453-93.
- 16. Lyon P, Strippoli V, Fang B, Cimmino L. B Vitamins and One-Carbon Metabolism: Implications in Human Health and Disease. Nutrients. 2020 Sep 19;12(9):2867.
- Institute of Medicine (US) Food and Nutrition Board. Dietary reference intakes for folate. In: Dietary reference intakes for thiamin, riboflavin, niacin, vitamin B6, folate, vitamin B12, pantothenic acid, biotin, and choline. Washington (DC): National Academies Press; 1998. p. 196-305.
- 18. Mladěnka P, Macáková K, KujovskáKrčmová L, Javorská L, Mrštná K, Carazo A, Protti M, Remião F, Nováková L; OEMONOM researchers and collaborators. Vitamin K sources, physiological role, kinetics, deficiency, detection, therapeutic use, and toxicity. Nutr Rev. 2022 Mar 10:80(4):677-98.
- 19. DiNicolantonio JJ, Bhutani J, O'Keefe JH. The health benefits of vitamin K. Open Heart. 2015 Oct 6;2(1):e000300.
- Institute of Medicine (US) Food and Nutrition Board. Vitamin
 K. In: Dietary reference intakes for vitamin A, vitamin K,
 arsenic, boron, chromium, copper, iodine, iron, manganese,
 molybdenum, nickel, silicon, vanadium, and zinc.
 Washington (DC): National Academies Press; 2001. p. 162–96.
- Kumar A, Nirmal P, Kumar M, Jose A, Tomer V, Oz E, Proestos C, Zeng M, Elobeid T, Sneha K, Oz F. Major phytochemicals: recent advances in health benefits and extraction method. Molecules. 2023 Jan 16;28(2):887.
- 22. Yang Y, Ling W. Health benefits and future research of phytochemicals: a literature review. J Nutr. 2025 Jan;155(1):87-101.
- Linus Pauling Institute, Oregon State University.
 Phytochemicals [Internet]. Corvallis (OR): Oregon State
 University; [cited 2025 May]. Available from: https://lpi.oregonstate.edu/mic/dietary-factors/phytochemicals
- Jain A, Sangwan S, Kaushik P. A conceptual review on classification, extraction, bioactive potential and applications of phytochemicals in human nutrition and health. Curr Res Food Sci. 2024;7:100240.



- Sriperumbuduri S, Welling P, Ruzicka M, Hundemer GL,
 Hiremath S. Potassium and Hypertension: A State-of-the-Art
 Review. Am J Hypertens. 2024 Jan 16;37(2):91-100.
- 26. Filippini T, Naska A, Kasdagli MI, Torres D, Lopes C, Carvalho C, Moreira P, Malavolti M, Orsini N, Whelton PK, Vinceti M. Potassium Intake and Blood Pressure: A Dose-Response Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. J Am Heart Assoc. 2020 Jun 16;9(12):e015719.
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.
 Potassium. In: Oria M, Harrison M, Stallings VA, editors. Dietary reference intakes for sodium and potassium. Washington (DC): National Academies Press; 2019. p. 101-204.
- Aggett PJ. Iron. In: Marriott BP, Birt DF, Stallings VA, Yates AA, editors. Present knowledge in nutrition: basic nutrition and metabolism. 11th ed. Vol. 1. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2020. p. 375-91.
- Institute of Medicine (US) Panel on Micronutrients. Iron. In: Dietary reference intakes for vitamin A, vitamin K, arsenic, boron, chromium, copper, iodine, iron, manganese, molybdenum, nickel, silicon, vanadium, and zinc. Washington (DC): National Academies Press; 2001. p. 290–393.
- 30. Shkembi B, Huppertz T. Calcium Absorption from Food Products: Food Matrix Effects. Nutrients. 2021 Dec 30;14(1):180.
- 31. National Institutes of Health (US), Office of Dietary
 Supplements. Magnesium fact sheet for health professionals
 [Internet]. Bethesda (MD): NIH 2022, Jun 2 [cited 2025 May].
- Willis HJ, Slavin JL. Dietary fiber. In: Ross AC, Caballero B, Cousins RJ, Tucker KL, Ziegler TR, editors. Modern nutrition in health and disease. 11th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Wolters Kluwer/ Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2020. p. 58-64.
- 33. Gill SK, Rossi M, Bajka B, Whelan K. Dietary fibre in gastrointestinal health and disease. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2021 Feb;18(2):101-16.
- Institute of Medicine. Dietary, functional, and total fiber.
 In: Dietary reference intakes for energy, carbohydrate,
 fiber, fat, fatty acids, cholesterol, protein, and amino acids.
 Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2005. p.
 339–421.
- Stephen AM, Champ MM, Cloran SJ, Fleith M, van Lieshout L, Mejborn H, Burley VJ. Dietary fibre in Europe: current state of knowledge on definitions, sources, recommendations, intakes and relationships to health. Nutr Res Rev. 2017 Dec;30(2):149-90.
- Alcorta A, Porta A, Tárrega A, Alvarez MD, Vaquero MP. Foods for Plant-Based Diets: Challenges and Innovations. Foods. 2021 Feb 1;10(2):293.
- Zhang W, Boateng ID, Xu J, Zhang Y. Proteins from Legumes, Cereals, and Pseudo-Cereals: Composition, Modification, Bioactivities, and Applications. Foods. 2024 Jun 22;13(13):1974.

- Klos B, Cook J, Crepaz L, Weiland A, Zipfel S, Mack I. Impact of energy density on energy intake in children and adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Eur J Nutr. 2023 Apr;62(3):1059-1076.
- 39. Robinson E, Khuttan M, McFarland-Lesser I, Patel Z, Jones A. Calorie reformulation: a systematic review and meta-analysis examining the effect of manipulating food energy density on daily energy intake. Int J BehavNutr Phys Act. 2022 Apr 22;19(1):48.
- Piovani D, Nikolopoulos GK, Bonovas S. Non-Communicable Diseases: The Invisible Epidemic. J Clin Med. 2022 Oct 8;11(19):5939.
- 41. U.S. Centers for disease control and prevention CDC. Chronic disease [Internet]. [cited 2025 Jully]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/chronic-disease/about/index.html
- 42. Hruby A, Hu FB. The epidemiology of obesity: a big picture. Pharmacoeconomics. 2015;33(7):673–89.
- 43. Avoidable mortality, risk factors and policies for tackling noncommunicable diseases – leveraging data for impact: monitoring commitments in the WHO European Region ahead of the Fourth United Nations High-Level Meeting. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2025. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- Clemente-Suárez VJ, Beltrán-Velasco AI, Redondo-Flórez L, Martín-Rodríguez A, Tornero-Aguilera JF. Global Impacts of Western Diet and Its Effects on Metabolism and Health: A Narrative Review. Nutrients. 2023 Jun 14;15(12):2749.
- 45. Neuhouser ML. The importance of healthy dietary patterns in chronic disease prevention. Nutr Res. 2019 Oct;70:3-6.
- Jardim MZ, Costa BVL, Pessoa MC, Duarte CK. Ultraprocessed foods increase noncommunicable chronic disease risk. Nutr Res. 2021 Nov;95:19-34.
- 47. World Health Organization. Environmental risk factors and noncommunicable diseases [Internet]. [cited 2025 Jully]. Available from: https://www.who.int/teams/ noncommunicable-diseases/integrated-support/ environmental-risk-factors-and-ncds
- 48. Cockerham WC, Hamby BW, Oates GR. The Social Determinants of Chronic Disease. Am J Prev Med. 2017 Jan;52(1S1):S5-S12
- 49. Chavda VP, Feehan J, Apostolopoulos V. Inflammation: The Cause of All Diseases. Cells. 2024 Nov 18;13(22):1906.
- 50. European Foundation for the Care of Newborn Infants: Healthy pregnancy: fetal programming and chronic diseases in later life, 2015. https://www. efcni.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Factsheet_Healthy_pregnancy__ Fetal_programming.pdf. Accessed
- Liu RH. Health benefits of fruit and vegetables are from additive and synergistic combinations of phytochemicals.
 Am J Clin Nutr. 2003 Sep;78(3 Suppl):517S-520S.



- 52. World Health Organization. Hypertension [Internet]. [cited 2025 Jully]. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/hypertension
- 53. Fryar CD, Kit B, Carroll MD, Afful J. Hypertension prevalence, awareness, treatment, and control among adults age 18 and older: United States, August 2021–August 2023. NCHS Data Brief, no 511. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics. 2024.
- 54. Kjeldsen SE. Hypertension and cardiovascular risk: General aspects. Pharmacol Res. 2018 Mar;129:95–99.
- 55. Stanaway JD et al. Global, regional, and national comparative risk assessment of 84 behavioral, environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks or clusters of risks for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Stu. Lancet 392, 1923–1994 (2018).
- Sawicka K, Szczyrek M, Jastrzębska I, Prasał M, Zwolak A, Daniluk J. Hypertension – The Silent Killer. J Pre Clin Clin Res. 2011;5(2):43-6.
- 57. Mills KT, Stefanescu A, He J. The global epidemiology of hypertension. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2020 Apr;16(4):223-37.
- 58. Madsen H, Sen A, Aune D. Fruit and vegetable consumption and the risk of hypertension: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. Eur J Nutr. 2023 Aug;62(5):1941-55.
- 59. Borgi L, Muraki I, Satija A, Willett WC, Rimm EB, Forman JP. Fruit and Vegetable Consumption and the Incidence of Hypertension in Three Prospective Cohort Studies. Hypertension. 2016 Feb;67(2):288-93.
- 60. Boeing H, Bechthold A, Bub A, Ellinger S, Haller D, Kroke A, Leschik-Bonnet E, Müller MJ, Oberritter H, Schulze M, Stehle P, Watzl B. Critical review: vegetables and fruit in the prevention of chronic diseases. Eur J Nutr. 2012 Sep;51(6):637-63
- 61. Vollmer WM, Sacks FM, Svetkey LP. New insights into the effects on blood pressure of diets low in salt and high in fruits and vegetables and low-fat dairy products. Curr Control Trials Cardiovasc Med. 2001;2(2):71-4.
- 62. Aburto NJ, Hanson S, Gutierrez H, Hooper L, Elliott P, Cappuccio FP. Effect of increased potassium intake on cardiovascular risk factors and disease: systematic review and meta-analyses. BMJ. 2013 Apr 3;346:f1378.
- Reynolds AN, Akerman A, Kumar S, Diep Pham HT, Coffey S, Mann J. Dietary fibre in hypertension and cardiovascular disease management: systematic review and metaanalyses. BMC Med. 2022 Apr 22;20(1):139.
- 64. Appel LJ, Moore TJ, Obarzanek E, Vollmer WM, Svetkey LP, Sacks FM, Bray GA, Vogt TM, Cutler JA, Windhauser MM, Lin PH, Karanja N. A clinical trial of the effects of dietary patterns on blood pressure. DASH Collaborative Research Group. N Engl J Med. 1997 Apr 17;336(16):1117-24.
- 65. Akhlaghi M. Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH): potential mechanisms of action against risk factors of the metabolic syndrome. Nutr Res Rev. 2020 Jun;33(1):1-18.

- 66. National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute. DASH Eating Plan. [Internet]. [cited 2025 Jully]. Available from: https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/education/dash-eating-plan
- 67. Chiavaroli L, Viguiliouk E, Nishi SK, Blanco Mejia S, Rahelić D, Kahleová H, Salas-Salvadó J, Kendall CW, Sievenpiper JL. DASH Dietary Pattern and Cardiometabolic Outcomes: An Umbrella Review of Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses. Nutrients. 2019 Feb 5;11(2):338.
- 68. Onwuzo C, Olukorode JO, Omokore OA, Odunaike OS, Omiko R, Osaghae OW, Sange W, Orimoloye DA, Kristilere HO, Addeh E, Onwuzo S, Omoragbon L. DASH Diet: A Review of Its Scientifically Proven Hypertension Reduction and Health Benefits. Cureus. 2023 Sep 4;15(9):e44692.
- 69. Saneei P, Salehi-Abargouei A, Esmaillzadeh A, Azadbakht L. Influence of Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet on blood pressure: a systematic review and meta-analysis on randomized controlled trials. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2014 Dec;24(12):1253-61.
- Siervo M, Lara J, Chowdhury S, Ashor A, Oggioni C, Mathers JC. Effects of the Dietary Approach to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet on cardiovascular risk factors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Nutr. 2015 Jan 14;113(1):1-15.
- Campbell AP. DASH Eating Plan: An Eating Pattern for Diabetes Management. Diabetes Spectr. 2017 May;30(2):76– 81.
- 72. Shah NS, Leonard D, Finley CE, Rodriguez F, Sarraju A, Barlow CE, DeFina LF, Willis BL, Haskell WL, Maron DJ. Dietary Patterns and Long-Term Survival: A Retrospective Study of Healthy Primary Care Patients. Am J Med. 2018 Jan;131(1):48–55.
- 73. https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/news/2025/nih-supported-dash-diet-named-best-heart-healthy-diet-and-best-diet-high-blood-pressure
- 74. De Lorenzo A, Gratteri S, Gualtieri P, Cammarano A, Bertucci P, Di Renzo L. Why primary obesity is a disease? J Transl Med. 2019 May 22;17(1):169.
- 75. Yumuk V, Tsigos C, Fried M, Schindler K, Busetto L, Micic D, Toplak H; Obesity Management Task Force of the European Association for the Study of Obesity. European Guidelines for Obesity Management in Adults. Obes Facts. 2015;8(6):402-24.
- 76. World Health Organization. Obesity and overweight [Internet]. [cited 2025 August]. Available from: https:// www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-andoverweight.
- Durrer Schutz D, Busetto L, Dicker D, Farpour-Lambert N,
 Pryke R, Toplak H, Widmer D, Yumuk V, Schutz Y. European
 Practical and Patient-Centred Guidelines for Adult Obesity
 Management in Primary Care. Obes Facts. 2019;12(1):40-66.
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Overweight and obesity management. 2025. [Internet]. [cited 2025 August]. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng246



- Yumuk V, Tsigos C, Fried M, Schindler K, Busetto L, Micic D, Toplak H; Obesity Management Task Force of the European Association for the Study of Obesity. European Guidelines for Obesity Management in Adults. Obes Facts. 2015;8(6):402-24
- 80. Lattimer JM, Haub MD. Effects of dietary fiber and its components on metabolic health. Nutrients 2010; 2: 1266–89.
- 81. Liu S, Willett WC, Manson JE, et al Relation between changes in intakes of dietary fiber and grain products and changes in weight and development of obesity among middle-aged women. Am J Clin Nutr 2003; 78: 920–27.
- 82. British Nutrition Foundation. A guide to the energy density approach [Internet]. [cited 2025 August]. Available from: https://www.nutrition.org.uk/creating-a-healthy-diet/energy-density/
- 83. U.S. Centers for disease control and prevention CDC. Healthy Habits: Fruits and Vegetables to Manage Weight [Internet]. [cited 2025 August]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/healthy-weight-growth/healthy-eating/fruits-vegetables. html
- International Diabetes Federation. Diabetes Atlas [Internet].
 [cited 2025 August]. Available from: https://diabetesatlas.
 org/
- 85. U.S. Centers for disease control and prevention CDC. A
 Report Card: Diabetes in the United States Infographic
 [Internet]. [cited 2025 August]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/communication-resources/diabetesstatistics.html
- 86. World Health Organization. Diabetes [Internet]. [cited 2025 August]. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/diabetes
- 87. Deshpande AD, Harris-Hayes M, Schootman M. Epidemiology of diabetes and diabetes-related complications. Phys Ther. 2008 Nov;88(11):1254-64.
- 88. Bellou V, Belbasis L, Tzoulaki I, Evangelou E. Risk factors for type 2 diabetes mellitus: An exposure-wide umbrella review of meta-analyses. PLoS One. 2018 Mar 20;13(3):e0194127.
- 89. U.S. Centers for disease control and prevention CDC. Diabetes Risk Factors [Internet]. [cited 2025 August]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/risk-factors/index.html
- Wang PY, Fang JC, Gao ZH, Zhang C, Xie SY. Higher intake of fruits, vegetables or their fiber reduces the risk of type 2 diabetes: A meta-analysis. J Diabetes Investig. 2016 Jan;7(1):56-69.
- 91. Bazzano LA, Li TY, Joshipura KJ, Hu FB. Intake of fruit, vegetables, and fruit juices and risk of diabetes in women. Diabetes Care. 2008 Jul;31(7):1311-7.
- 92. Carter P, Gray LJ, Troughton J, Khunti K, Davies MJ. Fruit and vegetable intake and incidence of type 2 diabetes mellitus: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. 2010 Aug 18;341:c4229.

- 93. Reynolds AN, Akerman AP, Mann J. Dietary fibre and whole grains in diabetes management: Systematic review and meta-analyses. PLoS Med. 2020 Mar 6;17(3):e1003053.
- 94. Wang PY, Fang JC, Gao ZH, Zhang C, Xie SY. Higher intake of fruits, vegetables or their fiber reduces the risk of type 2 diabetes: A meta-analysis. J Diabetes Investig. 2016 Jan;7(1):56-69.
- 95. Nitzke D, Czermainski J, Rosa C, Coghetto C, Fernandes SA, Carteri RB. Increasing dietary fiber intake for type 2 diabetes mellitus management: A systematic review. World J Diabetes. 2024 May 15;15(5):1001-1010.
- 96. Hamer M, Chida Y. Intake of fruit, vegetables, and antioxidants and risk of type 2 diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Hypertens. 2007 Dec;25(12):2361-9.
- Ceriello A, Motz E. Is oxidative stress the pathogenic mechanism underlying insulin resistance, diabetes, and cardiovascular disease? The common soil hypothesis revisited. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2004 May;24(5):816-23
- 98. American Diabetes Association. How to Make Healthy Eating Choices. [Internet]. [cited 2025 Jully]. Available from: https:// diabetes.org/food-nutrition/eating-healthy
- 99. U.S. Centers for disease control and prevention CDC. Heart disease [Internet]. [cited 2025 Jully]. Available from: https:// www.cdc.gov/heart-disease/data-research/facts-stats/ index.html
- 100. Eriksen A, Tillin T, O'Connor L, Brage S, Hughes A, Mayet J, McKeigue P, Whincup P, Chaturvedi N, Forouhi NG. The impact of health behaviours on incident cardiovascular disease in Europeans and South Asians--a prospective analysis in the UK SABRE study. PLoS One. 2015 Mar 2;10(3):e0117364.
- 101. World Health Organization. Cardiovascular diseases [Internet]. [cited 2025 August]. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ cardiovascular-diseases-(cvds)
- 102. Anderson C, Gardner C, Talegawkar S, Hoelscher DM, Stanford FC, Tobias D, Booth S, Fung T, Deierlein A, Giovannucci E, Raynor H, Taylor C, Raghavan R, English LK, Reigh N, Huang S, Higgins M, Callahan EH, Fultz A, Butera G, Terry N, Obbagy J. Dietary Patterns and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease: A Systematic Review. November 2024. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Food and Nutrition Service, Center for Nutrition Policy and Promotion, Nutrition Evidence Systematic Review. [Internet]. [cited 2025 August]. Available at: https://nesr.usda.gov/sites/default/files/2023-10/2025-DGAC-Protocol-Dietary-patterns-Cardiovasculardisease.pdf.
- 103. Lichtenstein AH, Appel LJ, Vadiveloo M, Hu FB, Kris-Etherton PM, Rebholz CM, Sacks FM, Thorndike AN, Van Horn L, Wylie-Rosett J. 2021 Dietary Guidance to Improve Cardiovascular Health: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2021 Dec 7;144(23):e472-e487.



- 104. Okuda N, Miura K, Okayama A, Okamura T, Abbott RD, Nishi N, Fujiyoshi A, Kita Y, Nakamura Y, Miyagawa N, Hayakawa T, Ohkubo T, Kiyohara Y, Ueshima H; NIPPON DATA80 Research Group. Fruit and vegetable intake and mortality from cardiovascular disease in Japan: a 24-year follow-up of the NIPPON DATA80 Study. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2015 Apr;69(4):482-8.
- 105. Rissanen TH, Voutilainen S, Virtanen JK, Venho B, Vanharanta M, Mursu J, Salonen JT. Low intake of fruits, berries and vegetables is associated with excess mortality in men: the Kuopio Ischaemic Heart Disease Risk Factor (KIHD) Study. J Nutr. 2003 Jan;133(1):199-204.
- 106. Joshipura KJ, Ascherio A, Manson JE, Stampfer MJ, Rimm EB, Speizer FE, Hennekens CH, Spiegelman D, Willett WC. Fruit and vegetable intake in relation to risk of ischemic stroke. JAMA. 1999 Oct 6;282(13):1233-9.
- 107. Lai HT, Threapleton DE, Day AJ, Williamson G, Cade JE, Burley VJ. Fruit intake and cardiovascular disease mortality in the UK Women's Cohort Study. Eur J Epidemiol. 2015 Sep;30(9):1035-48.
- 108. Larsson SC, Virtamo J, Wolk A. Total and specific fruit and vegetable consumption and risk of stroke: a prospective study. Atherosclerosis. 2013 Mar;227(1):147-52.
- 109. Oude Griep LM, Geleijnse JM, Kromhout D, Ocké MC, Verschuren WM. Raw and processed fruit and vegetable consumption and 10-year coronary heart disease incidence in a population-based cohort study in the Netherlands. PLoS One. 2010 Oct 25;5(10):e13609
- 110. Minich DM. A Review of the Science of Colorful, Plant-Based Food and Practical Strategies for "Eating the Rainbow". J Nutr Metab. 2019 Jun 2;2019:2125070.
- 111. Guasch-Ferré M, Willett WC. The Mediterranean diet and health: a comprehensive overview. J Intern Med. 2021 Sep;290(3):549-66.
- 112. Tosti V, Bertozzi B, Fontana L. Health Benefits of the Mediterranean Diet: Metabolic and Molecular Mechanisms. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2018 Mar 2;73(3):318-326. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glx227. PMID: 29244059; PMCID: PMC7190876.
- 113. Gardener H, Wright CB, Gu Y, Demmer RT, Boden-Albala B, Elkind MS, Sacco RL, Scarmeas N. Mediterranean-style diet and risk of ischemic stroke, myocardial infarction, and vascular death: the Northern Manhattan Study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2011 Dec;94(6):1458-64.
- 114. Keys A, Menotti A, Karvonen MJ, Aravanis C, Blackburn H, Buzina R, et al. The diet and 15-year death rate in the seven countries study. Am J Epidemiol. 1986; 124: 903-15.
- 115. Dinu M, Pagliai G, Casini A, Sofi F. Mediterranean diet and multiple health outcomes: An umbrella review of metaanalyses of observational studies and randomised trials. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2018; 72: 30–43.
- 116. Schwingshackl L, Morze J, Hoffmann G. Mediterranean diet and health status: Active ingredients and pharmacological mechanisms. Br J Pharmacol. 2020 Mar;177(6):1241-57.

- 117. Widmer RJ, Flammer AJ, Lerman LO, Lerman A. The Mediterranean diet, its components, and cardiovascular disease. Am J Med. 2015 Mar;128(3):229-38.
- 118. U.S News. Best Diets Overall 2025. [Internet]. [cited 2025 August]. Available at: https://health.usnews.com/best-diet/best-diets-overall
- 119. Ferlay J, Ervik M, Lam F, Laversanne M, Colombet M, Mery L, Piñeros M, Znaor A, Soerjomataram I, Bray F. 2024 Global Cancer Observatory: Cancer Today. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer. [Internet]. [cited 2025 August]. Available at: https://gco.iarc.who.int/today
- 120. Eurostat. Statistics Explained. Causes of death statistics. (2025) [Internet]. [cited 2025 August]. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Causes_of_death_statistics&oldid=241685&printable=yes#:~:text=update:%20 March%202026.-,Highlights,lung%20cancer%20 decreased%20by%2014.0%25.
- 121. Islami F, Goding Sauer A, Miller KD, et al. Proportion and number of cancer cases and deaths attributable to potentially modifiable risk factors in the United States. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68:31–54.
- 122. Rock CL, Thomson C, Gansler T, Gapstur SM, McCullough ML, Patel AV, Andrews KS, Bandera EV, Spees CK, Robien K, Hartman S, Sullivan K, Grant BL, Hamilton KK, Kushi LH, Caan BJ, Kibbe D, Black JD, Wiedt TL, McMahon C, Sloan K, Doyle C. American Cancer Society guideline for diet and physical activity for cancer prevention. CA Cancer J Clin. 2020 Jul;70(4):245-71.
- 123. Marino P, Mininni M, Deiana G, Marino G, Divella R, Bochicchio I, Giuliano A, Lapadula S, Lettini AR, Sanseverino F. Healthy Lifestyle and Cancer Risk: Modifiable Risk Factors to Prevent Cancer. Nutrients. 2024 Mar 11;16(6):800.
- 124. Friedenreich CM, Ryder-Burbidge C, McNeil J. Physical activity, obesity and sedentary behavior in cancer etiology: epidemiologic evidence and biologic mechanisms. Mol Oncol. 2021 Mar;15(3):790-800.
- 125. CDC. Chronic Diseases. (2025) [Internet]. [cited 2025 August]. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/chronic-disease/about/index.html
- 126. Wild CP, Weiderpass E, Stewart BW, editors (2020). World Cancer Report: Cancer Research for Cancer Prevention. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer. Available from: http://publications.iarc.fr/586. Licence: CC BY-NC-ND
- 127. World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research. Diet, Nutrition, Physical Activity and Cancer: a Global Perspective. Continuous Update Project Expert Report 2018. [Internet]. [cited 2025 August]. Available from: https://www.wcrf.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/11/Summary-of-Third-Expert-Report-2018.pdf



- 128. Tuncel G, Hoti Q, Mocan G, Ergoren MC. A review of the Mediterranean diet and nutritional genomics in relation to cancer in women. J Prev Med Hyg. 2022 Oct 17;63(2 Suppl 3):E81-E86.
- 129. Celiberto F, Aloisio A, Girardi B, Pricci M, Iannone A, Russo F, Riezzo G, D'Attoma B, Ierardi E, Losurdo G, Di Leo A. Fibres and Colorectal Cancer: Clinical and Molecular Evidence. Int J Mol Sci. 2023 Aug 31;24(17):13501.
- 130. Barakat R, Park CJ, Perez PA, Chiu K, Ko C. Female antiestrogens. In: Skinner MK, editor. editor. Encyclopedia of reproduction. 2nd ed. Oxford: Academic Press; 2018 p.740747.
- 131. Bustamante-Rangel M, Delgado-Zamarreño MM, Pérez-Martín L, Rodríguez-Gonzalo E, Domínguez-Álvarez J. Analysis of isoflavones in foods. Compr Rev Food Sci Food Saf 2018;17(2):391-411.
- 132. Lv HW, Wang QL, Luo M, Zhu MD, Liang HM, Li WJ, et al. Phytochemistry and pharmacology of natural prenylated flavonoids. Arch Pharm Res 2023;46(4):207-72.
- 133. Durazzo A, Lucarini M, Camilli E, Marconi S, Gabrielli P, Lisciani S, et al. Dietary lignans: definition, description and research trends in databases development. Molecules 2018;23(12):3251
- 134. Babu S, Jayaraman S. An update on ⊠-sitosterol: a potential herbal nutraceutical for diabetic management.

 Biomed Pharmacother 2020;131:110702
- 135. Kim M, Lee M, Sa J. Nutritional management for breast cancer patients. Ewha Med J. 2025 Jan;48(1):e11.
- 136. Ryan AM, Power DG, Daly L, Cushen SJ, Ni Bhuachalla E, Prado CM. Cancer-associated malnutrition, cachexia and sarcopenia: the skeleton in the hospital closet 40 years later. Proc Nutr Soc. 2016;75: 199-211.
- 137. Rock CL, Thomson CA, Sullivan KR, Howe CL, Kushi LH, Caan BJ, Neuhouser ML, Bandera EV, Wang Y, Robien K, Basen-Engquist KM, Brown JC, Courneya KS, Crane TE, Garcia DO, Grant BL, Hamilton KK, Hartman SJ, Kenfield SA, Martinez ME, Meyerhardt JA, Nekhlyudov L, Overholser L, Patel AV, Pinto BM, Platek ME, Rees-Punia E, Spees CK, Gapstur SM, McCullough ML. American Cancer Society nutrition and physical activity guideline for cancer survivors. CA Cancer J Clin. 2022 May;72(3):230-62.
- 138. WHO. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (2024) [Internet]. [cited 2025 August]. Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/chronic-obstructive-pulmonary-disease-(copd)
- 139. World Health Organization 2025 data. WHO. int, United States of America [Country overview]. [Internet]. [cited 2025 August]. Available at: https://data.who.int/countries/840
- 140. The Global Asthma Report 2022. [Internet]. [cited 2025 August]. Available at: https://globalasthmareport.org/burden/burden.php
- 141. CDC. Asthma Data. Most recent asthma data. (2024) [Internet]. [cited 2025 August]. Available at: https://www.cdc. gov/asthma-data/about/most-recent-asthma-data.html

- 142. WHO. European Region. European Health Information Getaway, SDR, Asthma per 100,000 (2025) [Internet]. [cited 2025 August]. Available at: https://gateway.euro. who.int/en/indicators/hfamdb_135-sdr-asthma-per-100-000/#id=29413
- 143. Global Initiative for Asthma. 2022. Global Strategy for Asthma Management and Prevention. [Internet]. [cited 2025 August]. Available at: www.ginasthma.org
- 144. Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease. Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (2017 Report). GOLD executive summary. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2017;195: 557–82.
- 145. Berthon, B.S.; Macdonald-Wicks, L.K.; Gibson, P.G.; Wood, L.G. Investigation of the association between dietary intake, disease severity and airway inflammation in asthma. Respirology 2013, 18, 447–54
- 146. Berthon BS, Wood LG. Nutrition and respiratory health—feature review. Nutrients. (2015) 7:1618–43. 10.3390/nu7031618
- 147. Hosseini B, Berthon BS, Wark P, Wood LG. Effects of Fruit and Vegetable Consumption on Risk of Asthma, Wheezing and Immune Responses: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Nutrients. 2017 Mar 29;9(4):341.
- 148. Szmidt MK, Kaluza J, Harris HR, Linden A, Wolk A. Long-term dietary fiber intake and risk of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a prospective cohort study of women. Eur J Nutr. 2020 Aug;59(5):1869-79.
- 149. Zhai H, Wang Y, Jiang W. Fruit and Vegetable Intake and the Risk of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: A Dose-Response Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies. Biomed Res Int. 2020 Feb 21;2020:3783481.
- 150. Gozzi-Silva SC, Teixeira FME, Duarte AJDS, Sato MN, Oliveira LM. Immunomodulatory Role of Nutrients: How Can Pulmonary Dysfunctions Improve? Front Nutr. 2021 Sep 7;8:674258.
- 151. Michaeloudes C, Abubakar-Waziri H, Lakhdar R, Raby K, Dixey P, Adcock IM, Mumby S, Bhavsar PK, Chung KF. Molecular mechanisms of oxidative stress in asthma. Mol Aspects Med. 2022 Jun;85:101026.
- 152. Tabak, C.; Wijga, A.H.; de Meer, G.; Janssen, N.A.; Brunekreef, B.; Smit, H.A. Diet and asthma in Dutch school children (ISAAC-2). Thorax 2006, 61, 1048–53.
- 153. Romieu I. Nutrition and lung health. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. (2005) 4:362–74.
- 154. Kaluza, J., Harris, H. R., Linden, A., & Wolk, A. (2018). Long-term consumption of fruits and vegetables and risk of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a prospective cohort study of women. International Journal of Epidemiology, 47(6), 1897–909.
- 155. Keranis E., Makris D., Rodopoulou P., et al. Impact of dietary shift to higher-antioxidant foods in COPD: a randomised trial. European Respiratory Journal. 2010;36(4):774–80.



- 156. Romieu, I., & Trenga, C. (2001). Diet and obstructive lung diseases. Epidemiologic Reviews, 23(2), 268–87.
- 157. Sanderson IR. The innate immune system of the gastrointestinal tract. Mol Immunol. 2003 Nov;40(7):393-4.
- 158. Albrechtsen NJW, Rehfeld JF. On premises and principles for measurement of gastrointestinal peptide hormones. Peptides. 2021 Jul;141:170545.
- 159. Carabotti M, Scirocco A, Maselli MA, Severi C. The gut-brain axis: interactions between enteric microbiota, central and enteric nervous systems. Ann Gastroenterol. 2015 Apr-Jun;28(2):203-09.
- 160. Pizarroso NA, Fuciños P, Gonçalves C, Pastrana L, Amado IR. A Review on the Role of Food-Derived Bioactive Molecules and the Microbiota-Gut-Brain Axis in Satiety Regulation. Nutrients. 2021 Feb 16;13(2):632.
- 161. Azzouz LL, Sharma S. Physiology, Large Intestine. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2025 Jan. [Internet]. [cited 2025 August]. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/ NBK507857/
- 162. Utzschneider KM, Kratz M, Damman CJ, Hullar M. Mechanisms Linking the Gut Microbiome and Glucose Metabolism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2016 Apr;101(4):1445–54. Erratum in: J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2016 Jun;101(6):2622.
- 163. Suares NC, Ford AC. Prevalence of, and risk factors for, chronic idiopathic constipation in the community: systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2011 Sep;106(9):1582-91.
- 164. Albu A, Farcas A, David L, Dumitrascu DL. The economic burden of constipation therapy. Med Pharm Rep. 2019 Jul;92(3):261-64.
- 165. Cai Q, Buono JL, Spalding WM, Sarocco P, Tan H, Stephenson JJ, Carson RT, Doshi JA. Healthcare costs among patients with chronic constipation: a retrospective claims analysis in a commercially insured population. J Med Econ. 2014 Feb;17(2):148-58.
- 166. Bowel Interest Group, Cost of Constipation Report (2020) [Internet]. [cited 2025 August]. Available at: https:// bowelinterestgroup.co.uk/resources/cost-of-constipation-report-2020/
- 167. Martin BC, Barghout V, Cerulli A. Direct medical costs of constipation in the United States. Manag Care Interface. 2006 Dec;19(12):43-9.
- 168. Lindberg G, Hamid SS, Malfertheiner P, Thomsen OO, Fernandez LB, Garisch J, Thomson A, Goh KL, Tandon R, Fedail S, Wong BC, Khan AG, Krabshuis JH, LeMair A; World Gastroenterology Organisation. World Gastroenterology Organisation global guideline: Constipation—a global perspective. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2011 Jul;45(6):483–7.
- 169. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, Scenario: Constipation in adults, [Internet]. [cited 2025 August]. Available at: https://cks.nice.org.uk/constipation#!scenario

- 170. Tamura M, Ohnishi Y, Kotani T, Gato N. Effects of new dietary fiber from Japanese Apricot (Prunus mume Sieb. et Zucc.) on gut function and intestinal microflora in adult mice. Int J Mol Sci. 2011;12(4):2088-99.
- 171. Parkar SG, Rosendale D, Paturi G, Herath TD, Stoklosinski H, Phipps JE, Hedderley D, Ansell J. In vitro utilization of gold and green kiwifruit oligosaccharides by human gut microbial populations. Plant Foods Hum Nutr. 2012 Sep;67(3):200-7.
- 172. Katsirma Z, Dimidi E, Rodriguez-Mateos A, Whelan K. Fruits and their impact on the gut microbiota, gut motility and constipation. Food Funct. 2021 Oct 4;12(19):8850-66.
- 173. Maqsood S, Arshad MT, Ikram A, Gnedeka KT. Fruit-Based Diet and Gut Health: A Review. Food Sci Nutr. 2025 Apr 30;13(5):e70159.
- 174. Gérard P, Li CG, Bhuyan DJ. Editorial: Fruits, vegetables, and biotics for a healthy gut microbiome. Front Nutr. 2024 Aug 8:11:1468453.
- 175. Koutsos A, Lima M, Conterno L, Gasperotti M, Bianchi M, Fava F, Vrhovsek U, Lovegrove JA, Tuohy KM. Effects of Commercial Apple Varieties on Human Gut Microbiota Composition and Metabolic Output Using an In Vitro Colonic Model. Nutrients. 2017 May 24;9(6):533.
- 176. Istas G, Wood E, Le Sayec M, Rawlings C, Yoon J, Dandavate V, Cera D, Rampelli S, Costabile A, Fromentin E, Rodriguez–Mateos A. Effects of aronia berry (poly)phenols on vascular function and gut microbiota: a double-blind randomized controlled trial in adult men. Am J Clin Nutr. 2019 Aug 1:110(2):316-29
- 177. O'Connor K, Morrissette M, Strandwitz P, Ghiglieri M, Caboni M, Liu H, Khoo C, D'Onofrio A, Lewis K. Cranberry extracts promote growth of Bacteroidaceae and decrease abundance of Enterobacteriaceae in a human gut simulator model. PLoS One. 2019 Nov 12;14(11):e0224836.
- 178. Bulsiewicz WJ. The Importance of Dietary Fiber for Metabolic Health. Am J Lifestyle Med. 2023 Apr 12;17(5):639-48.
- 179. Yang L. A causality between fruit consumption and colorectal cancer: a two-sample Mendelian randomization analysis. Front Oncol. 2024 Mar 1;14:1362269.
- 180. World Health Organization. World mental health report: transforming mental health for all. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022. Available from: https://www.who.int/ publications/i/item/9789240049338
- 181. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. Key substance use and mental health indicators in the United States: results from the 2023 National Survey on Drug Use and Health. HHS Publ No. PEP24-07-021, NSDUH Ser H-59. Rockville (MD): Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration; 2024.



- 182. United Nations. Rev.4: Political declaration of the fourth high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases and the promotion of mental health and well-being: Equity and integration: transforming lives and livelihoods through leadership and action on noncommunicable diseases and the promotion of mental health and well-being [Internet]. New York: United Nations; 2025 [cited 2025 Oct 12]. Available from: https://www.un.org/pga/wp-content/uploads/sites/109/2025/09/Finalized-PD-on-NCDs-and-Mental-Health-REV4-3-September-2025.pdf
- 183. Molendijk M, Molero P, Ortuño Sánchez-Pedreño F, Van der Does W, Martínez-González MA. Diet quality and depression risk: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective studies. J Affect Disord. 2018 Jan 15;226:346-54.
- 184. Houminer-Klepar N, Dopelt K. Associations between Mediterranean diet, processed food consumption, and symptoms of anxiety and depression: cross-sectional study among Israeli adults. Foods. 2025 Apr 24;14(9):1485.
- 185. Zhang H, Li M, Mo L, Luo J, Shen Q, Quan W. Association between Western dietary patterns, typical food groups, and behavioral health disorders: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Nutrients. 2023 Dec 29;16(1):125.
- 186. Opie RS, Itsiopoulos C, Parletta N, Sanchez-Villegas A, Akbaraly TN, Ruusunen A, Jacka FN. Dietary recommendations for the prevention of depression. Nutr Neurosci. 2017 Apr;20(3):161-71.
- 187. Głąbska D, Guzek D, Groele B, Gutkowska K. Fruit and vegetable intake and mental health in adults: a systematic review. Nutrients. 2020 Jan 1;12(1):115.

- 188. Sánchez-Villegas A, Cabrera-Suárez B, Molero P, González-Pinto A, Chiclana-Actis C, Cabrera C, Lahortiga-Ramos F, Florido-Rodríguez M, Vega-Pérez P, Vega-Pérez R, Pla J, Calviño-Cabada MJ, Ortuño F, Navarro S, Almeida Y, Hernández-Fleta JL. Preventing the recurrence of depression with a Mediterranean diet supplemented with extra-virgin olive oil. The PREDI-DEP trial: study protocol. BMC Psychiatry. 2019 Feb 11;19(1):63.
- 189. Parletta N, Zarnowiecki D, Cho J, Wilson A, Bogomolova S, Villani A, et al. A Mediterranean-style dietary intervention supplemented with fish oil improves diet quality and mental health in people with depression: a randomized controlled trial (HELFIMED). Nutr Neurosci. 2019;22:474-87.
- 190. Lassale C, Batty GD, Baghdadli A, Jacka F, Sánchez-Villegas A, Kivimäki M, Akbaraly T. Healthy dietary indices and risk of depressive outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Mol Psychiatry. 2019;24:965-86.
- 191. Sureda A, Bibiloni MDM, Julibert A, Bouzas C, Argelich E, Llompart I, Tur JA. Adherence to the Mediterranean diet and inflammatory markers. Nutrients. 2018;10:62.
- 192. Morris MC, Tangney CC, Wang Y, Sacks FM, Barnes LL, Bennett DA, et al. MIND diet slows cognitive decline with aging. Alzheimers Dement. 2015;11:1015-22.
- 193. Dutta R. Role of MIND diet in preventing dementia and Alzheimer's disease. ARC J Neurosci. 2019;4:1–8.
- 194. Hayhoe R, Rechel B, Clark AB, Gummerson C, Smith SJL, Welch AA. Cross-sectional associations of schoolchildren's fruit and vegetable consumption, and meal choices, with their mental well-being: a cross-sectional study. BMJ Nutr Prev Health. 2021 Sep 27;4(2):447-62.



Growing a healthier world by changing the trajectory of human health.